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The board members who held office during the year and 

up to the approval of these financial statements were: 

J D Hayward Chair

F Yeomans 

J E Jones 

A F C Gambles 

M Broadest Resigned 1 October 2018

O Ingram Resigned 31 December 2018

W Chatt  Resigned 1 October 2018

N Barton Chair CCH Resigned 26 April 2018

S D Hardwick 

P A Baren Senior Independent Director

J Cruise  Resigned 12 April 2018

S M Cash

C Cook  Resigned 1 October 2018

R J Frankland

P McGrath Resigned 1 October 2018

L Pallister Resigned 1 October 2018

R I Sim  Retired 30 June 2018

K Abson  Appointed 29 November 2018

R Du Rose Appointed 2 January 2019

The board presents its annual report and audited 

consolidated financial statements for Beyond Housing 

for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The consolidated financial statements include the 

results of Beyond Housing Ltd, for the year ended 

31 March 2019. They also include the results of its 

subsidiary companies Coast & Country Developments 

Limited and Coast & Country Sales Limited.

Principal activity
The group’s principal activity is the provision and 

management of housing and associated services to 

people in housing need.

Group structure
At 31 March 2019 Beyond Housing (the ‘Group’) 

comprised the following entities:

• Beyond Housing Limited (BH)

• Coast & Country Developments Limited (CCD)

• Coast & Country Sales Limited (CCS).

Beyond Housing, the parent is:

• Beyond Housing Limited is registered as a 
charitable Community Benefit Society with the 
Financial Conduct Authority under the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 (Registration number 7814).

• Authorised and regulated by the Financial 
Conduct Authority (Registration number 710900).

• Registered and regulated by the Regulator for 
Social Housing (RSH) (on merger Beyond Housing 
was a G2/V1 rated organisation).

CCD and CCS are both limited companies and are 

wholly owned subsidiaries of Beyond Housing.

Within this report and the financial statements, the 

consolidated financial position is referred to as ‘Group’ 

and the parent entity financial position is referred to  

as ‘Association’.

Board members

Leadership team 
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Thanks to the strong foundations laid by 
both legacy organisations and the hard 
work and dedication of our colleagues in 
delivering the merger, we’re now one of 
the largest social housing providers in the 
North East and North Yorkshire and a key 
contributor to the communities we serve. 

We deliver services to over 30,000 people living in our 

area and have 15,085 owned and managed properties. 

In the last year, we have helped over 130 people into 

employment and supported some of the most vulnerable 

members of our communities.

We have also started to review and refresh our approach 

to engaging with customers, so as to establish a new 

relationship between our board and communities, 

redefining our offer in partnership with customers, and 

providing a range of opportunities for customers to 

engage with us. Our new organisation now employs just 

over 700 colleagues and 54 volunteers.

We are delighted to 

introduce Beyond 

Housing’s 2018/19 

annual report. This is 

our first annual report 

as Beyond Housing, 

following the merger 

of Coast & Country 

Housing and Yorkshire 

Coast Homes in 

October 2018.

Report of the Board 
of Management 

An introduction from the Chair of the 
Board and Chief Executive 
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We developed an additional 66 
new build homes for rent and 10 
for shared ownership last year.

We have renewed and strengthened 

our relationships with key partners, 

including local authorities, 

businesses and service providers, 

working with them to develop our 

future business strategy.  

Overall the business has managed 

to uphold relatively strong levels of 

performance throughout the merger 

period whilst creating the new 

Beyond Housing organisation. To the 

year end 31 March 2019, we collected 

£68m in rent. This was against 

the backdrop of the continued 

rent reduction and the roll out of 

Universal Credit. Our operating 

surplus before tax was £6.8m. Our 

ROCE was 5.1%, our gearing 54.2% 

and both remain comparable to our 

comparators. Our overall operating 

margin at 22% will be a focus to 

strengthen in the future. Our future 

investment plans will increase our 

supply of homes.

An additional 23 private property 

acquisitions occurred during the 

year, whilst a community centre 

conversion provided another seven 

units for rent.  

Our surplus continues to be used 

for improving customers’ homes, 

building new homes for rent and sale 

and investing in our communities 

and neighbourhoods. Over the next 

year we expect to create a new five 

year strategy which will guide us in 

using the increased resources we 

have available to us, so as to help 

our customers and communities to 

succeed and thrive. 

As part of the pre-merger process, we 

identified concerns about fire safety 

and informed the Regulator of Social 

Housing (RSH) who subsequently 

issued a regulatory notice. 

A new board and leadership team is in place to steer the organisation and 

we have a clear programme to ensure the full integration of the two legacy 

businesses by the end of 2019.

Beyond Housing quickly completed 

all of the fire risk assessment works 

and continues to engage with the 

regulator around data improvement 

and new compliance processes and 

systems.

Our year has been one of 

significance and created major 

challenges for our people. We would 

like to take this opportunity to thank 

all of our colleagues and partners for 

helping us to achieve the merger and 

recognise the huge contribution they 

make day in and day out.

We are now focused on the future 

and delivering a new strategy and 

operating model to reflect our 

growth ambitions and to improve 

the services which will help our 

customers and communities to 

succeed and thrive.

James D Hayward 

Chair 

Rosemary Du Rose   

Chief Executive
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Beyond Housing was formed in October 2018 as the result of a merger (via 
transfer of engagements) between Coast & Country Housing, based in Redcar, 
and Yorkshire Coast Homes, based in Scarborough.

When we consolidated the two 

housing providers into one we 

aspired to deliver:

• More new homes – Building up to 
2,000 homes in the first five years

• A more cost effective service 
– Reducing the average social 
housing cost per unit to circa 
£3,000 in three years 

• Improvements to existing homes 
– Potentially investing £150m in 
the first five years

• A merger of the two independent 
living services – Allowing us to 
provide more effective service 
delivery and grow our customer 
base.

To ensure value for money (VfM) 

is achieved we are taking a more 

nuanced approach to how we 

invest in our homes and estates in 

the future. 

We will be investing in our existing 

housing stock, estates, new homes 

and customer services. We will 

also look at those areas that may 

require regeneration. Regeneration 

is already underway for the Church 

Lane estate in Eston with a firm 

commitment to invest £2.5m into 

delivering the project.

As a registered CBS, we have a turnover of £73.7m, own 

and manage 15,085 homes across nine local authorities 

in the North East, housing over 30,000 customers. We 

employ over 700 people and offer housing for rent and 

sale, including shared ownership. 

We also undertake a wide range of activities to improve 

the lives of our customers, including our independent 

living services, HomeCall and Coastcall, which support 

older and vulnerable people to live independently in their 

homes for longer.

By combining all of the assets, strengths and resources of 

the two associations into one new merged business with 

a clear vision and shared values, we now aim to do more 

for the customers and communities we serve.

We are investing in good quality homes and services for 

people in housing need and for the communities we 

work with. Last year we made a surplus of £6.8m before 

tax and invested £8.2m in new homes and £27.7m in our 

existing properties.

In addition to the very tangible 

benefits Beyond Housing will 

generate over the years to come, 

it will also be a values driven 

business embodying the best 

of the two former associations. 

As a landlord, service provider 

and employer Beyond Housing 

genuinely cares about its 

customers, its communities  

and its employees.

Our merger business case

Overview of Beyond 
Housing and our strategy

73.7m
Turnover  15,085 30,000

Homes Customers

Housing
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To help our customers 
and communities 
succeed and thrive. 

To provide homes 
customers want, places 
they are proud of, services 
they value, delivered by 
people who care.

Our purpose

Our mission

Following on from the merger in October 2018, we plan to fully 

integrate the business during 2018/19, 2019/20 and form a new 

five year business strategy that will commence in April 2020.

10 Beyond Housing  Annual Report   |   Report of the Board of Management



We respect, trust and 
care about each other

We aim high 
to achieve more

We work 
smarter together

We own it

Our values
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Corporate governance
The board comprises of 10 members, made up of 50% 

women and 50% men. 

An annual compliance assessment is undertaken 

by the board of its chosen code of governance. This 

assessment will be reviewed and validated externally 

by independent consultants every three years. 

Accordingly, the board states that the group is fully 

compliant with the NHF 2015 Code of Governance. 

Beyond Housing  
Board

Audit & Risk  
Committee

Integration Task 
& Finish Group

Coast & Country 
Developments Ltd Su

b
sid

iaries

Coast & Country  
Sales Ltd

The board has overall responsibility for the 

administration of sound corporate governance 

throughout the group and recognises the 

importance of maintaining a strong reputation  

for the group.

Beyond Housing has three constituted committees 

and one task and finish group.

The Audit & Risk 

Committee is responsible 

for ensuring a sound 

system of internal control 

and risk management 

is embedded across the 

group. The Committee 

met twice over the 

period 1 October 2018  

to 31 March 2019.

Development &  
Investment Committee

The Development & 

Investment Committee 

is responsible for 

providing strategic 

direction for, and scrutiny 

of the organisation’s 

development, 

regeneration and other 

major investments. The 

committee met four 

times over the period 1 

October 2018 to 31  

March 2019.

Selection  
& Review Committee

The Selection & Review 

Committee is responsible 

for board director 

succession planning, 

recruitment and selection 

of non-executive 

directors, board training 

and development, 

ensuring the appraisal 

and remuneration of the 

chief executive is carried 

out and for addressing 

any conduct or standards 

issues. The committee 

met twice over the period 

1 October to 31 March 2019. 

The Integration Task  

& Finish Group is 

responsible for 

reviewing the progress 

of the merger 

integration and key 

change projects. The 

group met twice over 

the period 1 October 

2018 to 31 March 2019.
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Board and committee meetings
The board has met formally four times in the six months after Beyond Housing 

was formed up to year end to address operational and business activities and 

held one away day to discuss future strategy.

Board and committee attendance

Beyond Housing 
Board

Audit & Risk  
Committee

Selection &  
Review  

Committee

Development &  
Investment  
Committee

Integration Task  
& Finish Group

1 October 2018 15 November 2018 1 November 2018 8 November 2018 15 November 2018

29 November 2018 14 February 2019 5 February 2019 22 November 2018 14 February 2019

24 January 2019 10 January 2019

28 February 2019 31 January 2019

Name
Beyond Housing 

Board
Audit & Risk 
Committee

Selection 
& Review 

Committee

Development 
& Investment 

Committee

Integration Task  
& Finish Group

A B A B A B A B A B

Non Executives

K Abson 3 3 - - - - 2 2 - -

P Baren 4 3 2 2 - - 4 2 2 2

S Cash 4 4 2 2 - - - - 2 2

R Frankland 4 3 1 0 2 2 - - - -

A Gambles 4 4 2 2 - - - - - -

S Hardwick 4 4 - - - - 4 4 - -

J Hayward (Chair) 4 4 - - 2 2 - - - -

J Jones 4 3 - - 2 2 4 2 - -

F Yeomans 4 4 - - 2 2 4 4 2 2

Executives

O Ingram 2 2 - - - - - -

R Du Rose 2 2 - - - - - -

* K Abson appointed 29 October 2018

* O Ingram resigned 31 December 2018

* R Du Rose appointed 2 January 2019

* R Frankland appointed to Audit & Risk Committee on 29 November 2018

A = maximum number of meetings that could have been attended

B = number of meetings actually attended
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Beyond Housing 
Board

Audit & Risk  
Committee

Selection &  
Review  

Committee

Development &  
Investment  
Committee

Integration Task  
& Finish Group

1 October 2018 15 November 2018 1 November 2018 8 November 2018 15 November 2018

29 November 2018 14 February 2019 5 February 2019 22 November 2018 14 February 2019

24 January 2019 10 January 2019

28 February 2019 31 January 2019

Owned Managed Shared ownership Total

Houses 8,070 18 216 8,304

Bungalows 3,058 3 4 3,065

Flats 3,258 176 0 3,434

Maisonettes 120 0 0 120

Bedsits 174 0 0 174

Total 14,680 197 220 15,097

3rd party managed - - - 12

Total 14,680 197 220 15,085

Name
Beyond Housing 

Board
Audit & Risk 
Committee

Selection 
& Review 

Committee

Development 
& Investment 

Committee

Integration Task  
& Finish Group

A B A B A B A B A B

Non Executives

K Abson 3 3 - - - - 2 2 - -

P Baren 4 3 2 2 - - 4 2 2 2

S Cash 4 4 2 2 - - - - 2 2

R Frankland 4 3 1 0 2 2 - - - -

A Gambles 4 4 2 2 - - - - - -

S Hardwick 4 4 - - - - 4 4 - -

J Hayward (Chair) 4 4 - - 2 2 - - - -

J Jones 4 3 - - 2 2 4 2 - -

F Yeomans 4 4 - - 2 2 4 4 2 2

Executives

O Ingram 2 2 - - - - - -

R Du Rose 2 2 - - - - - -

Viability assessment
Beyond Housing prepares a thirty-year, long term 

financial plan to demonstrate it can effectively manage 

its resources and ensure long term financial stability is 

maintained and social housing assets are safeguarded. 

Beyond Housing has stress tested the plan using multi-

variant analysis which tests against potential serious 

economic and business risks. The board held a stress 

testing workshop in April 2019 to consider the plan 

and the results of the stress testing which included 

considering the impact of movement in interest rates 

and liquidity, inflation and economic risk, political risk, 

the effects of welfare reform, sales risk and a multi-

variant scenario.

The board has identified actions to mitigate against 

these risks quantified through the stress testing and is 

satisfied these mitigations would be implemented, if the 

need arises to protect the social housing assets and to 

maintain compliance with regulatory requirements.

Our housing stock
Beyond Housing operates across the North East 

and North Yorkshire covering nine local authorities. 

We currently have 15,097 homes for rent, 12 of 

which are managed by a third party giving us 

15,085 owned units (Note 3 in the Accounts) and an 

additional 290 leaseholder units. A breakdown of 

our housing stock is: 

%

HOMES
FOR RENT

LEASEHOLDER

UNITS
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The board acknowledges its overall responsibility for 
establishing and maintaining the whole system of internal 
control and for reviewing its effectiveness across the Group.

Internal controls

The board recognises that no system of internal 

control can provide absolute assurance or eliminate 

all risk. The system of internal control is designed to 

manage, not eliminate, risk and to provide reasonable, 

not absolute, assurance against material misstatement 

or loss.  

The process for identifying, evaluating and managing 

significant risks faced by the Group has been in place 

throughout the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the 

date of the approval of these financial statements.

The board has received the Group Chief Executive’s 

annual review of the effectiveness of internal control 

which concludes that there is sufficient evidence to 

confirm the operation of adequate systems of internal 

control and that these systems are aligned to the on-

going process of managing the significant risks faced 

by the Group.

Key elements of the Group’s internal control  

framework include:

• Board approved terms of reference for board and 
committees

• Strategic risk registers which are regularly reviewed 
by the leadership team, board and the Audit & Risk 
Committee

• Policies and procedures in place for the Group’s 
operating activities

• A corporate and planning process with supporting 
financial information, including long term business 
plans and annual budgets

• A new programme and project management 
framework, aligning our project activity with our 
corporate objectives

• A business case and appraisal framework established 
to support robust investment decision-making

• Business assurance and internal audit functions 
(provided by PwC) tasked with maintaining and 
testing the Group’s control environment

• Reporting to leadership team and board of key 
corporate performance indicators

• Oversight by the Audit & Risk Committee of the 
Group’s internal control processes

• An established health and safety compliance 
framework.
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Our 16 key performance indicators help the board to monitor 
progress against our strategy. Last year was the year we 
merged to form Beyond Housing and our strategy was all 
about consolidation and the delivery of our merger promises.

Our key performance indicators

Indicator Freq Type
Profile  
target

End of year 
target

Actual
(Period 12)

Trend

To reduce the amount of current 
customer arrears

M PT <= £1,700,000 £1,629,408

Average level of voids (weekly - owned 
stock)

M PT <= 129 129

Percentage of terminated tenancies  
that lasted more than 12 months

M RY <= 78.0% 77.5%

Average re-let time (days) M YTD <= 22.0 20.5

Rent loss due to voids - £ M YTD <= £830,000 £731,664

Percentage of complaints responded  
to within target timescales

M YTD >= 100.0% 99.6%

Overall customer satisfaction (STAR) M YTD >= 85.0% 87.4%

Number of properties where gas safety 
certificate has expired during the year

M YTD <= 15 8

Number of units contractually  
committed during the year

M YTD >= 300 207

Percentage of repairs completed  
within target timescales - overall

M YTD >= 98.5% 98.3%

Percentage of properties with  
SAP rating below 69

M YTD <= 15.0%

Average number of working days lost to 
sickness absence per employee

M YTD <= 10 7.7

Percentage of staff turnover - voluntary M YTD <= 8.00% 11.12%

Headline Social Housing Costs per Unit Q YTD <= £3,374 £3,300

Operating Margin - Social Q YTD >= 20.7% 22.0%

Merger efficiencies Q YTD >=
£1m 

(per year/3 
years)
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Dash board period 12, 2018/19

YTD - From April till month end RY - Rolling year (previous 12 months) PT - Point in time (snapshot at end current month)
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PT - Point in time (snapshot at end current month)

19



Value for money 
indicators and analysis

Reducing waste, 

promoting innovation 

and driving savings

Using our resources in 

the best possible way 

to meet the needs of 

our customers

Delivering our 

mission and creating 

value outcomes Econom
y

Efficiency

Ef
fe

ct
iv

eness
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Indicators

Beyond Housing consciously looks to deliver VfM and will take a planned 
approach to the delivery of the merger efficiencies and financial capacity 
gains, which provides a direction for achieving VfM in order to increase 
investment in our existing homes and communities and to create new homes. 

Beyond Housing has included the nine regulatory VfM 

metrics from the RSH Technical Note guidance June 2019 

sector scorecard, in its new board KPIs. We benchmark 

our VfM indicators where appropriate against a group of 

comparable housing providers to help understand our 

performance and inform our improvement plans and 

targets. With the merger in October 2018 we have taken 

legacy benchmarks and developed into the new Beyond 

Housing indicators. 

Borrowing capacity 

– By combining the 

two organisations the 

VfM strategy expected 

potentially an additional 

£105m borrowing capacity. 

The loan portfolio that was 

restructured as part of 

the merger delivers £40m 

additional cash resource for 

further investment in new 

and existing homes.

As benchmark information for 2018/19 is not 

available at the time of preparing the annual reports, 

performance is measured against the RSH 2017/18 

Global Accounts benchmarking information below. 

During 2019/20 and going forward we will benchmark 

our VfM indicators, this will support our strategy to 

embed VfM into everything we do.

2018/19 2017/18*

RSH VfM Metric
Beyond 
Housing

Beyond 
Housing

Global 
Upper Q

NE^ 
Upper Q

Global 
Med Q

NE^ Med 
Global 
Lower

NE^ 
Lower

Reinvestment 4.25% - 8.70% 9.90% 6.00% 6.00% 3.80% 3.80%

New supply: Social 0.5% - 2.30% 1.80% 1.20% 0.90% 0.50% 0.50%

New supply: Non-social - - 0.07% - - - - -

Gearing 54.2% 57.5% 53% 49% 42% 37% 33% 24%

EBITDA MRI 192% 221% 263% 338% 206% 246% 154% 160%

Social housing cost per unit £3,300 £3,074 £4,500 £3,590 £3,400 £3,020 £3,010 £2,880

Operating margin: Social 22% 28% 37% 35% 32% 29% 26% 22%

Operating margin: Overall 22% 25% 34% 31% 29% 25% 23% 20%

Return on capital employed 5.1% 5.1% 5% 6% 4% 4% 3% 3%

Total cost of management 

and maintenance of 

each housing unit – The 

target cost per unit for the 

combined organisation 

is less than £3,000 as the 

result of reductions to 

overheads, structural costs 

and improved procurement. 

The business plan shows 

this will be achieved by 

2021/22.

Delivery of new homes – 

The business plan shows 

that by the end of 2023/24 

Beyond Housing could 

be delivering 1,852 new 

homes.

Independent living 

service – The combined 

independent living service 

achieves economies of 

scale which helps the 

business to grow and 

thrive in the region.

^NE combines average performance for the north east region and North Yorkshire based RPs. 

We have used the 2018/19 financial statements for last year’s figures. Our accounts include also the 

restated 2017/18 closing accounts following the merger. 21Beyond Housing  Annual Report   |   Report of the Board of Management



Definitions
1. Reinvestment % - Looks at the 

investment in properties (existing 

stock as well as new supply) as a 

percentage of the value of total 

properties held.

2. New supply - Delivered % the 

new supply metric sets out the 

number of new social housing and 

non-social housing units that have 

been acquired in the year as a 

proportion of total social housing 

units and non-social housing units 

owned at period end. The table 

reports on two new delivered 

ratios: new supply delivered 

(social housing units) and new 

supply delivered (non-social 

housing units).

3. Gearing % - Measures how much 

of the adjusted assets are made 

up of debt and the degree of 

dependence on debt finance. It is 

often a key indicator of growth 

appetite. Registered providers 

can be restricted by lenders’ 

covenants and therefore may 

not have the ability in which to 

increase the loan portfolio despite 

showing a relatively average 

gearing result.

4. EBITDA - Earnings before 

interest, tax, depreciation, 

amortization, major repairs 

included (EBITDA MRI) interest 

cover measure is a key indicator 

for liquidity and investment 

capacity. It seeks to measure the 

level of surplus that a registered 

provider generates compared 

to interest payable; the measure 

avoids any distortions stemming 

from the depreciation charge.  

5. Headline social housing cost per 

unit - Assesses the total housing 

cost per unit as defined by the 

Housing Regulator. The cost 

measures set out in the metric 

are unchanged from the metric in 

the Regulator VfM technical note 

2018. The metric now however 

includes lease costs.

6. Operating margin - Demonstrates 

the profitability of operating 

assets before exceptional 

expenses are deducted. 

Increasing margins are one 

way to demonstrate the 

improving financial efficiency 

of a business. In assessing this 

ratio, consideration is given to 

registered providers’ purpose 

and objectives (including our 

social objectives). As a registered 

provider we report on two 

operating margins: operating 

margin (social housing lettings 

only) and operating margin 

(overall).

7. Return on capital employed 

(ROCE) - This metric compares 

the operating surplus to total 

assets less current liabilities and 

is a common measure in the 

commercial sector to assess the 

efficient investment of capital 

resources. The ROCE metric would 

support registered providers with 

a wide range of capital investment 

programmes.
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Future analysis
Based on our performance, our plans for the coming 

years will focus on a number of indicators. The board 

has agreed our long-term strategic plan from 2019/20. 

VfM indicator 2018/19 Outcome Target rules Future plans

Reinvestment Our development spending in 2018/19 
was lower due to the merger. 
There was a need at merger to 
bring together two organisations’ 
strategies. Thus the new Beyond 
Housing business plan for investment 
took some time to become 
established.

- Our capital investment plans 
are to maintain and invest in our 
existing stock but to build out a 
potential 2,000 further homes.

New supply: Social Our new supply of housing was 
76 new build units in 2018/19. The 
ambitions of Beyond Housing are 
to develop circa 2,000 new homes 
over the next five years. These plans 
will therefore significantly increase 
the supply of new homes going 
forward. A case for the merger was 
to increase the financial capacity 
of legacy organisations to increase 
housing supply.

- Our long term plan is to build to 
a target of around 2,000 homes 
over the next five years. 

New supply: Non-
social

We built out a handful of non- social 
homes in 2018/19.

- Our long term plan is to build to 
a target of around 2,000 homes 
over the next five years. The 
supply of non- social homes will 
be a small proportion of homes 
built.

Gearing Our gearing has remained constant 
as we have not taken on any 
significant amounts of new debt. 
We have not used generally our 
borrowing facilities last year due 
to low development. Our debt 
arrangements are set out in a table 
later in the report and in detail in  
the accounts. 

To keep below <63% Our gearing will remain within 
funder requirements. Our own 
rules impose more stringent 
targets than those imposed by 
the funders.

This includes setting approved ‘rules’ against key 

indicators to ensure the financial stability and 

resilience of the business. 
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Future analysis cont.

VfM indicator 2018/19 Outcome Target rules Future plans

EBITDA - MRI Our EBITDA - MRI has declined 
due to ‘one off’ merger costs and 
higher compliance spending. Lower 
development sales in 2018/19 also 
reduced our income. We ceased 
water rates income management 
in March 2018, and our income 
therefore declined £0.5m.

To keep EBITDA – 
MRI (Interest Cover) 
greater than >121%

The EBITA (interest cover) has a 
funder requirement to be above 
110% in all years. In addition a 
more stringent target has been 
set to give an additional margin 
above funder requirements.

Social housing cost 
per unit

Our housing costs per unit 
(management cost) has increased 
due to additional merger costs and 
higher compliance expenditure.

Circa £3,000 Our five year business plan 
shows cost per unit reducing to 
under £3,000. 
2019/20 - £3,527 
2020/21 - £3,278 
2021/22 - £2,929 
2022/23 - £2,886 
2023/24 - £2,986. 
 

Operating margin: 
Social

The operating margin has been 
principally affected by the 
explanations in EBITDA and Headline 
Social Housing costs.

- The social margin will be close 
to the overall operating margin 
set.

Operating margin:
Overall

The operating margin has been 
principally affected by the 
explanations in EBITDA and Headline 
Social Housing costs.

To set at sector 
average >30%

Our business plan is to have an 
operating margin above the 
sector target.

Return on Capital 
Employed (ROCE)

Our ROCE has remained constant as 
the impact of our lower operating 
surplus is offset our reduced 
total assets less current liabilities 
reflecting the repayment of loans.

- ROCE employed will be 
monitored as our investment 
plans are delivered to ensure 
efficient investment is being 
made.

Other metrics agreed by the organisation include: 

• Liquidity – current ratio >1.10

• Security – 15% buffer to add to funder security valuation ratios 

• Operating surplus – reliance on profits from open market sales to 

be limited to 20% within our business plans. By limiting reliance 

on profits from open market house sales, focus is on sustained 

financial stability

• Cashflow – holding cash and cash equivalents >= 21 months 

operating cash requirements.
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Key performance 
indicators measuring VfM

VfM movements

Indicator
Combined legacy  

organisation
Actual 17/18

Beyond Housing
Actual 18/19

Trend*

To reduce the amount of 
current customer arrears

£2,025,481 £1,629,408

Average level of voids 
(weekly - owned stock)

129 129

Average re-let time (days) 23.8 20.5

Rent loss due to voids £829,368 £731,664

Overall customer 
satisfaction (STAR)

85.1% 87.4%

Beyond Housing and the legacy organisations measured 

key performance indicators and VfM. Beyond Housing 

has a dashboard system that measures a set of key 

performance metrics each month. Our dashboard for 

period 12 can be viewed on page 18. 

The dashboards are also discussed at the monthly 

performance and strategy meetings attended by 

leadership and heads of service.

The organisation’s new Procurement team negotiated a 

number of contracts following the merger. The savings over 

three years will come into fruition from 2019/20, they include: 

• Internal audit £77,000

• External audit contract £15,500

• Tenants’ contents insurance £172,200 

• Kitchen supplies (one year contract) £66,000. 

Further savings are already materialising as contracts are 

negotiated using our increased buying power.

*Trend: this is the movement from the prior month

The dashboard forms an 
agenda item at all board 
meetings, hence the board 
can monitor performance and 
VfM within the organisation.
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Managing risk is a 

responsibility of the board 

and is fundamental to the 

management of corporate 

challenges. Beyond Housing 

has put in place a risk 

management framework 

that identifies and if possible 

mitigates potential risks 

while exploring future 

opportunities.

James D Hayward 

Chair of the Board  

Beyond Housing Ltd

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Registration Number: RS007814

12 September 2019

Risk
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Structure and business overview  
– group and association

Beyond Housing, the parent organisation is 
a charitable organisation. It is a registered 
provider of affordable housing regulated by 
the Regulator of Social Housing.

Coast & Country Developments Ltd (CCD) develops 

properties for outright sale, generating surplus for the 

group to reinvest. It has not been active during 2018/19.

Coast & Country Sales Ltd (CCS) carries out the sales 

activities for the CCD developed properties. It has not 

been active during 2018/19.

Strategic  
Report 
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Regulated by the Regulator for Social  
Housing (RSH) and the Financial Conduct  
Authority (FCA) Also required to comply  

with the Charities Act 2014

Governed by the Intra  
Group Governance 

Arrangements 

Beyond Housing  
(Parent)

Community Benefit Society 7814

Registered with the Financial  

Conduct Authority (FCA)

Coast & Country  
Developments Ltd  

(Subsidiary)

Community limited by shares - 7575609

Registered with Companies House

Coast & Country  
Sales Ltd 

(Subsidiary)

Community limited by shares - 9510349

Registered with Companies House

Governed by the Intra  
Group Governance 

Arrangements 

Beyond Housing is 
classed as an ‘exempt 

charity’ therefore 
is not registered 

with the Charities 
Commission
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The merger of Yorkshire Coast Homes and Coast & Country 
Housing in October 2018 created an organisation with 
significant financial strength and capacity. The financial 
results, which have been prepared using merger accounting 
principles, show a turnover of £73.7m and an operating 
surplus of £16.3m.

Financial performance
2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Group income and expenditure

Turnover 73,662 74,796

Operating surplus 16,274 18,471

Surplus before tax 6,795 10,591

Balance sheet

Tangible fixed assets (includes intangible assets) 351,198 344,258

Housing property assets net of depreciation 349,745 342,928

Cash 10,452 60,000

Loans 200,000 257,000

Reserves 98,288 87,140

Investment in new properties during the year 8,170 13,350

Total capital and revenue expenditure on repairs and improvements 27,693 25,862

Information and statistics

Total housing stock managed in units 15,085 15,096

Rental income as a % of turnover 92.54% 91.30%

Surplus/(deficit) per unit 450 700

Average loan per unit 13,247 17,024

Average reported reserves per unit 6,510 5,770

Operating surplus % 22% 25%

Surplus before tax % 9% 14%

Interest cover (operating surplus/interest payable) 1.8 2.0 

£73.7m
TURNOVER

Financial review 2018/19
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£98.3m
Increased to

2 0 1 9

For the year to 31 March 2019 turnover reduced 

marginally to £73.7m (£74.8m 2017/18) partly caused by 

the government’s four-year 1% rent reduction policy 

and partly reflecting the reduction policy in the shared 

ownership sales programme. Beyond Housing also no 

longer receives commission for the collection of water 

and sewage charges which earned £0.5m in 2017/18. 

Operating costs increased to £56.8m (£55.6m in 2017/18) 

as a result of the cost of the merger and additional 

investment in properties required for health and safety 

compliance.

Over the year social housing lettings expenditure by  

the Group was £53.3m (£49.3m 2017/18). The charts 

show we increased by 20% repairs, routine and planned 

maintenance spend in our existing stock including 

works to bring us into compliance with  

health and safety legislation. 

£87.1mN
E

T

 W
O R T H

2 0 1 7 / 1 8We met all lender covenants 
during the year and the net worth 
‘reserves’ of the Group increased 
to £98.3m (£87.1m 2017/18).

Expenditure 2018/19 £m

Management 
& Other

Routine & Planned 
Maintenance Depreciation Major Repairs

14.3

22 21.7

12.8

10.4

4.2

10.9

6.1

Expenditure 2017/18 £m
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Financial review cont.

Our cost of management was tightly controlled  

in the latter part of the year resulting in a small 1% 

increase over 2017/18.  

The cost of refinancing in preparation for the merger  

was £1.6m.

Beyond Housing owns and manages properties costing 

£349.7m net of depreciation. The board has made a 

decision in the alignment of accounting policies to 

adopt an historic cost accounting policy for fixed assets. 

Yorkshire Coast Homes previously held fixed assets at 

historic costs whereas Coast & Country Housing stated 

fixed assets at value. 

There has been an increase of 2% in the housing assets 

value of the portfolio due mainly to the completion of 

new rented housing and restated 31 March 2018 values.

The value of land and properties held as work in progress 

has increased by 10%. The largest part of work in progress 

represents the final phase of the group’s development in 

Filey which will be completed as housing for sale.

Cash held at 31 March 2019 reduced from £60m to £10.5m 

(2017/18) as the group repaid part of its revolving credit 

facility (RCF) facility during the year to reduce the cost 

of borrowing. Additionally a housing loan with the Co-

operative Bank lender was repaid in September 2018 

as part of a loan restructuring exercise, undertaken for 

the purpose of merger. In total the group repaid £57m of 

housing loans leading to an 18% reduction in long term 

creditors during 2018/19. The loan restructuring that took 

place on the merger is detailed on the following page.   

Social housing income remains the largest proportion of our turnover from operations 
at 93%. Shared ownership represented less than 0.3% of our turnover. Non-housing 
activity including our independent living service represented 4% (3.6% 2017/18).
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Summary loan 
facility per lender

Subsidiaries Coast & Country 
Developments 
Limited (CCD)

Coast & 
Country Sales 
Limited (CCS)

Beyond Housing restructured its loan portfolio in October 

2018 as part of the merger process. The restructuring cost 

£0.6m and a further £1m cost for breakage of the existing 

legacy debt while it also gave the opportunity to improve 

many of the loan covenants.

Beyond Housing, the parent 

organisation, has two wholly  

owned subsidiary companies. 

On 1 October 2018 the parent 

organisation Coast & Country 

Housing merged with Yorkshire 

Coast Homes via a transfer of 

engagements process, which was 

subsequently renamed Beyond 

Housing on that date. As part of 

this process ownership of Coast & 

Country Developments Limited and 

Coast & Country Sales Limited 

also transferred.  

During 2018/19 no new construction 

opportunities for the organisation 

have been identified and 

subsequently the organisation has 

remained in a discontinued state. 

The organisation made a surplus 

before taxation for the year ended 31 

March 2019 of £24,000 (2018: surplus 

of £18,000).

The organisation has made a loss 

before taxation for the year ended 

31 March 2019 of £8,000 (2018: loss 

of £12,000) which is broadly in line 

with budget expectations. No sales 

activity occurred during the year.

The debt consists of loans from three lenders: Lloyds (13% 

of the portfolio), Nationwide (46% of the portfolio) and 

Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS) (41% of the portfolio).

£204m of the debt is term loan with an average life of 

8.7 years and £104m represents RCF. Undrawn facilities 

total £108m of which £83m is RCF. The high proportion of 

RCF available provides liquidity and flexibility for Beyond 

Housing as it builds up its development portfolio. The 

group has currently sufficient liquidity for its proposed 

investment programme.

The embedded value of the debt is close to neutral with 

a 4.45% weighted average cost of debt. 

The debt consists of loans from 
three lenders: Lloyds (13% of the 
portfolio), Nationwide (46% of 
the portfolio) and Royal Bank of 
Scotland (RBS) (41% of the portfolio).

Lender Fixed Libor Sub total Undrawn Total

Lloyds £15,666,667 £4,333,333 £20,000,000 £20,000,000 £40,000,000

RBS £61,666,667 £10,333,333 £72,000,000 £54,000,000 £126,000,000

Nationwide £88,333,333 £19,666,667 £108,000,000 £34,333,333 £142,333,333

Total £165,666,667 £34,333,333 £200,000,000 £108,333,333 £308,333,333

33



Risk and assurance framework
The Governance team at Beyond Housing work with our 

internal auditors, PricewaterhouseCooper (PwC), to provide a 

programme of audits and reviews which underpin the risk and 

assurance framework for the board. Our current key risks and 

mitigation strategies are set out below.

Key risks 
Risk Mitigation in place

Loss of revenue 

Welfare reform 

Further changes in government policy

Loss of key contracts

Increased competition 

Housing market crash

Poor financial management.

Benefit and money advice to customers

Skilled Finance team and systems in place

Prudent assumptions within the business plan 

Income Management Policy and performance scorecards

Treasury Management Policy including spread of risk, monitoring of 
interest rate fluctuations and general market conditions 

Procurement procedures support contractual due diligence

Effective relationships with key stakeholders.

Regulation

Non-compliance

Unclear or weak processes

Lack of competence 

Poor or ineffective management 

Loss of corporate knowledge 

Changes to structure/process

Poor communication of legal and/or regulatory 
obligations 

Poor data quality/record keeping 

Poor or ineffective culture 

Cyber/malicious attack.

Governance framework, including rules, articles of association, 
standing orders and financial regulations

Board training and appraisal processes 

Annual board certification of compliance

Delegated authorities

Risk based internal audit plan 

Mandatory training matrix 

Housing/asset management systems 

Intranet utilised for storage of operational procedures 

Insurance cover  

Data governance processes, ICT firewalls and security.

Health and safety 

Non-compliance

Unclear or weak processes

Lack of competence 

Poor or ineffective management

Loss of corporate knowledge 

Changes to structure/process

Poor communication of health and safety 
responsibilities

Human error

Poor data quality

Poor record keeping

Breakdown of internal systems

Poor or ineffective culture 

Significant external events (e.g. Grenfell Tower) 

Safeguarding failure

Health and safety management system

Mandatory training matrix, job descriptions and role profiles 

Health & Safety Policy and annual statement of intent 

Management systems and servicing cycles

Operations compliance KPI monitoring

Qualified health and safety advisors in post

Health and safety briefings 

Accident, incident and near miss reporting 

Lessons learned from near misses/incidents 

Asset management systems 

Team structures established

Effective relationship with relevant stakeholders

Established customer involvement framework aligned to the Tenant 
Involvement and Empowerment Standard.
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Risk Mitigation in place

Poor data integrity/governance framework   

Unclear or weak processes

Lack of competence (training awareness, skill)

Changes to or gaps in structure/process 

Poor communication of roles and 
responsibilities

Human error, poor record keeping

Poor security and access controls 

Inadequate internal systems or failure of 
support processes

Cyber/malicious attack

Fraud/probity

Business Intelligence team 

Suite of data governance processes in place and available through 
intranet

Regular articles - monthly messages communicated to colleagues 

Data Protection Officer (DPO) appointed 

Information Security and Data Protection Policy established

Key systems mapped and owners identified

Mandatory training 

Data handbook and communication processes established

Privacy notices communicated to colleagues and customers 

ICT firewalls, security processes in place

Off-site archiving contract in place. 

Loss of resources (people/systems)    

Pandemic illness or similar

Severe inclement weather

Failure of local infrastructure in the event of      
a major incident

Data breach

Breakdown of internal systems 

Cyber/malicious attack

Single person dependencies

Lack of competence

Loss of corporate knowledge. 

Disaster recovery support contracts 

Daily office backups and comprehensive procedures in place

Emergency response team and cascade groups 

Business interruption insurance in place

Crisis communication plan in place and aligned to major incident 
response plan.

Economic downturn    

Disorderly or no deal ‘Brexit’

Changes in government composition/focus

Market shutdown

Housing market crash

High levels of personal debt

Failure of banking institution(s) 

Recession/trading difficulties with global 
partners.

No or limited outright market sales units included within business plan 
projections

Treasury Management Policy including spread of risk

Monitoring of interest rate fluctuations and general market conditions.

Ineffective development strategy 

Failure to agree development appetite

Inability to identify or act upon opportunities 

Competition, planning restrictions

Limited relationships with key partners

Contractor failure/delays

Poor project management

Increased development costs

Lack of demand within our operating area

Housing market crash

Development of the wrong product/ 
tenure type.

Development and Sales team 

Model Development Programme (MDP) established development KPI on 
performance dashboard (units committed)

Development opportunities group and insight framework established

No or limited outright market sales units included within business plan 
projections

Hurdle rates agreed

Investment Policy in place

Relationships established with local authority partners (Redcar and 
Cleveland, Scarborough, Tees Valley Combined Authority)

Contract management arrangements, including credit alerts (Dun & 
Bradstreet) and due diligence.
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Poor, or insufficiently embedded culture 

No clear vision/strategy

Poor channels of communication 

Lack of training and development 

Dissatisfaction with terms and conditions

Poor quality recruitment 

Limited talent management initiatives

Lack of change readiness

Poor or distant leadership

Failure to respond to colleague/customer 
concerns in a timely manner.

Colleague involvement in purpose, mission values and strategy

Monthly reporting of performance

Training budget 

Staff Consultation Forum (SCF) and Your Views group 

Employee representatives in place

Integration Plan draft values co-created by colleagues across both 
legacy organisations

Customer surveys

Customer Experience team managing complaints and customer 
feedback

Customer involvement framework aligned to the Tenant Involvement 
and Empowerment Standard.

Loss of reputation/poor brand recognition 

Poor response processes

Lack of corporate history

Poor service delivery

Inability to hear the customer voice/failing to 
act on customer feedback

Barriers to engagement.

Marketing and Communications team 

Crisis communication plan in place and aligned to major Incident 
response plan

Emergency response team established 

Customer surveys

Customer Experience team managing complaints and customer 
feedback

Established customer involvement framework aligned to the Tenant 
Involvement and Empowerment Standard.

Ineffective asset management/poor product 
quality  

Lack of clear process/strategy

Poor data quality/insight

Lack of single data source (AMS)

Gaps within structure

Increased customer expectations 

Contractor failure/delays

Changing customer demographics (ageing 
population)

Increased material/labour costs

Increased competition (other registered 
providers and private sector landlords).

Asset management/performance systems 

Regular stock condition surveys 

House type surveys to inform annual investment programme

Adequate budget provision assigned to deliver property maintenance 
programmes (based on decency requirements)

In-house repairs and maintenance service to support greater control 
and flexibility

Acquisitions and Disposals Policy in place

Stress areas identified

Voids project/internal focus to raise standards

Business intelligence around terminations, reasons for leaving, turnover 
and demand

Contract management arrangements, including credit alerts and due 
diligence

Health and safety audits.

Liquidity/cash flow pressures  

Limited/poor quality oversight of financial 
performance

Increased costs

Increased cost of borrowing

Breach of one or more of our covenants

Changes in government policy

Major contractor failure

Market shutdown

Housing market crash.

Significant cash reserves in place and access to additional capacity 
through the merger

Confirming liquidity and flexibility to respond to external risks

Refinancing exercise complete

Treasury Management Policy in place

In-house repairs and maintenance service reduces reliance on sub-
contractors to deliver repairs and maintenance services to customers

Reduce/remove market sales 

Monitoring of interest rate fluctuations and general market conditions.

Risk Mitigation in place
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Risk scenarios  
and stress testing
Beyond Housing uses various risk scenarios to stress 

test the business and to determine where financial, 

operational and reputational weaknesses might occur 

in adverse operating conditions. This testing influences 

our internal procedures in mitigating risks.

The main risks faced by the group and subsidiaries are 

discussed by the board and executive team. 

Key risks such as health and safety, financial stability 

and data security take a high priority. Significant 

emerging risks are also monitored. Risks are analysed 

according to their impact and likelihood. Management 

is focused on higher impact and higher likelihood risks.

UK ECONOMY

HOUSE PRICES

Brexit carries risks that may 
impact on labour, material 
costs and financing. 

There may also be risks to the wider UK economy and 

house prices. These risks are being monitored by the 

executive team as Brexit develops.
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The board is responsible for 

preparing the report and financial 

statements in accordance with 

applicable law and regulations.

The Co-operative and Community 

Benefit Societies Act 2014 and 

registered social housing legislation 

require the board to prepare financial 

statements for each financial year 

which give a true and fair view of 

the state of affairs of the group and 

association of the surplus or deficit 

for that period. Under that law the 

board have elected to prepare the 

financial statements in accordance 

with UK generally accepted 

accounting practice including FRS102. 

In preparing these financial 

statements, the board is required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies 

and then apply them consistently

• Make judgments and estimates 

that are reasonable and prudent

• State whether applicable UK 

accounting standards and current 

Statement of Recommended 

Practice (SORP) for Registered 

Housing Providers have been 

followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained 

in the financial statements

• Prepare the financial statements 

on the going concern basis unless 

it is inappropriate to presume that 

the group and association will 

continue in business.

The board is responsible for keeping 

proper accounting records, which 

disclose with reasonable accuracy 

at any time the financial position 

of the Group and Association, and 

to enable it to ensure the financial 

statements comply with the Co-

operative and Community Benefit 

Societies Act 2014, the Housing 

and Regeneration Act 2008 and 

the Accounting Direction for 

Private Registered Providers of 

Social Housing 2015. It has general 

responsibility for taking reasonable 

steps to safeguard the assets of the 

group and to prevent and detect 

fraud and other irregularities.

Auditor
A resolution to appoint BDO LLP, 

as auditor for 2019/20, will be 

put to the AGM members on 12 

September 2019.

Statement of compliance

The board has sought assurance of the Group’s  
compliance with all regulatory requirements. 

A key element of the Regulator for Social Housing, Governance and Financial 

Viability Standard is the requirement to comply with all relevant laws. The 

board has taken reasonable steps to seek necessary assurance. On this basis 

the board confirms that the Group complies with the requirements of the 

Regulator of Social Housing Governance & Financial Viability Standard.

Statement of the Board’s 
Responsibilities for the Report 
and Financial Statements 
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Going concern
When preparing their financial result the board of 

Beyond Housing considers whether the Association 

and the Group are a going concern. The directors of 

the subsidiaries undertake a similar exercise. Beyond 

Housing has put together a budget for 2019/20 and a 

long-term financial plan, together with the associated 

cash flow position and a Treasury Management Policy 

to maintain sufficient liquidity. 

The group has in place financial resources to run the 

organisation’s day to day operations and manage 

known risks despite any current uncertainties in 

the social housing sector. It has in place long-term 

debt facilities which provide adequate resources to 

finance committed investment and medium-term 

development activities. The group has a long-term 

business plan, which shows it is able to service these 

debt facilities whilst continuing to comply with 

current lenders’ covenants. On this basis the board has 

prepared the 2018/19 financial statements on the going 

concern basis.

20/19
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The board members who were in office on the date of 

approval of these financial statements have confirmed, 

as far as they are aware, that there is no relevant audit 

information of which the auditor is unaware. 

Disclosure of information to the auditor

Strategic report
In accordance with Section 414C (11) of the Companies Act 

2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 

2013 the organisation has prepared a strategic report, 

which includes information that would have been 

previously included in the directors’ report.

The board submits its report and the financial statements 

of Beyond Housing Limited (‘the Group’) for the year 

ended 31 March 2019.

James D Hayward 

Chair of the Board 

Beyond Housing Ltd 

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Registration Number: RS007814

12 September 2019

Each of the board members have confirmed they have 

taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as board 

members in order to make themselves aware of any 

relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 

communicated to the auditor.
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report   

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Beyond Housing Limited (the ‘Association’) 
and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the 
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Association Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, the Group Statement of Financial Position, the Association Statement of Financial 
Position, the Group Statement of Cash Flows, the Group Statement of Changes in Reserves, 
the Association Statement of Changes in Reserves and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been 

applied in their preparation is applicable law and 

United Kingdom Accounting Standards including FRS 

102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 

UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

• Give a true and fair view of the state of the 

Group’s and Association’s affairs as at 31 March 

2019 and of the income and expenditure of the 

Group and the income and expenditure of the 

Association for the year then ended

• Have been properly prepared in accordance 

with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice

• Have been prepared in accordance with 

the requirements of the Co-operative and 

Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, Co-

operative and Community Benefit Societies 

(Group Accounts) Regulations 1969, the Housing 

and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting 

Direction for Private Registered Providers of 

Social Housing 2015.

2019

2018
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Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 

International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 

and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements section of our report. We are independent 

of the group and parent association in accordance 

with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the financial statements in the UK, including 

the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and 

we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information
The other information comprises  

the information included in the  

annual report, other than the  

financial statements and our  

auditor’s report thereon. The  

Board is responsible for the other 

information. Our opinion on the 

financial statements does not cover 

the other information and, we do 

not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

Conclusions relating  
to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 

matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 

report to you where:

• The Board’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or 

• The Board has not disclosed in the financial 

statements any identified material uncertainties that 

may cast significant doubt about the Group’s or the 

Association’s ability to continue to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting for a period of at least 

twelve months from the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue.

In connection with our audit 

of the financial statements, 

our responsibility is to read 

the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the 

other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial 

statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated. 

If we identify such material 

inconsistencies or apparent 

material misstatements, we are 

required to determine whether 

there is a material misstatement 

in the financial statements or a 

material misstatement of the other 

information. If, based on the work 

we have performed, we conclude 

that there is a material misstatement 

of this other information; we are 

required to report that fact. We have 

nothing to report in this regard.
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Matters on which 
we are required 
to report by 
exception
We have nothing to report in respect 

of the following matters where the 

Co-operative and Community Benefit 

Societies Act 2014 requires us to 

report to you if, in our opinion:

• A satisfactory system of control 

over transactions has not been 

maintained; or

• The Association has not kept 

proper accounting records; or

• The financial statements are not 

in agreement with the books of 

account of the Association; or 

• We have not received all the 

information and explanations we 

require for our audit.

Responsibilities 
of the Board
As explained more fully in the Board’s 

responsibilities statement set out 

on page 38, the Board is responsible 

for the preparation of the financial 

statements and for being satisfied 

that they give a true and fair view, 

and for such internal control as the 

board determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether  

due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, 

the Board is responsible for assessing 

the group’s and the Association’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the Board either intends to 

liquidate the group or the Association 

or to cease operations, or have no 

realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities  
for the audit of the  
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 

of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the 

financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s 

website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 

forms part of our auditor’s report.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent 

auditor’s report is Victoria Craven.

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the Association’s members as a body, in 

accordance with Part 7 of the Co-operative and Community Benefit 

Societies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 

might state to the Association’s members those matters we are 

required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the Association and the 

Association’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 

or for the opinions we have formed.

RSM UK Audit LLP 

Statutory Auditor 

Chartered Accountants 

1 St James’ Gate  

Newcastle upon Tyne 

NE1 4AD
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Group Comprehensive Income Notes
2019 Combined 2018

£’000 £’000

Turnover 2 73,662 74,796

Cost of sales 2 (602) (705)

Operating expenditure 2 (56,786) (55,620)

Operating surplus 4 16,274 18,471 

Gain on disposal of housing properties 5 1,605 1,733

Interest receivable 6 97 78

Interest and financing costs 7 (11,181) (9,691)

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 6,795 10,591 

Taxation 10 (17) 35

Surplus for the year 6,778 10,626 

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 23 4,596 787

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,374 11,413

The consolidated results relate wholly to continuing activities. The accompanying notes form 

part of these financial statements. The financial statements were authorised and approved by 

the Board on 12 September 2019 and were authorised for issue and signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Registration Number: RS007814

James D Hayward 

Chair of the Board 

Lyn Peacock 

Company Secretary 

Sue Cash 

Board Member

Group Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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Association Comprehensive Income Notes
2019 Combined 2018

£’000 £’000

Turnover 2 73,662 74,741

Cost of sales 2 (602) (527)

Operating expenditure 2 (56,776) (55,612)

Operating surplus 4 16,284 18,602

Gain on disposal of housing properties 5 1,605 1,733

Interest receivable 6 96 78

Interest and financing costs 7 (11,181) (9,691)

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 6,804 10,722

Taxation 10 (17) 15

Surplus for the year 6,787 10,737

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 23 4,596 787

Deferred tax on pension liability - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,383 11,524

The consolidated results relate wholly to continuing activities. The accompanying notes form 

part of these financial statements. The financial statements were authorised and approved by 

the Board on 12 September 2019 and were authorised for issue and signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Registration Number: RS007814

James D Hayward 

Chair of the Board 

Lyn Peacock 

Company Secretary 

Sue Cash 

Board Member

Association Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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for the year ended 31 March 2019

Group Statement of 
Financial Position

Financial position Notes
2019 Combined 2018

£’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 11 349,747 342,928 

Other tangible fixed assets 12 990 925 

Intangible fixed assets 13 240 170

Investments 14 222 235 

Total fixed assets 351,199 344,258 

Current assets

Properties held for sale 15 5,505 4,894 

Trade and other debtors 16 6,849 5,376 

Cash and cash equivalents 10,452 60,000 

Total current assets 22,806 70,270 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 17 (20,788) (18,561)

Net current assets 2,018 51,709

Total assets less current liabilities 353,217 395,967 

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (236,555) (287,673

Pension provision 23 (18,374) (21,154)

Net assets 98,288 87,140 

Reserves

Income and expenditure reserve 96,118 85,384 

Restricted reserve 2,170 1,756 

Total Reserves 98,288 87,140 
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Financial position Notes
2019 Combined 2018

£’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 11 349,747 342,928 

Other tangible fixed assets 12 990 925 

Intangible fixed assets 13 240 170

Investments 14 222 235 

Total fixed assets 351,199 344,258 

Current assets

Properties held for sale 15 5,505 4,894 

Trade and other debtors 16 6,849 5,376 

Cash and cash equivalents 10,452 60,000 

Total current assets 22,806 70,270 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 17 (20,788) (18,561)

Net current assets 2,018 51,709

Total assets less current liabilities 353,217 395,967 

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (236,555) (287,673

Pension provision 23 (18,374) (21,154)

Net assets 98,288 87,140 

Reserves

Income and expenditure reserve 96,118 85,384 

Restricted reserve 2,170 1,756 

Total Reserves 98,288 87,140 

The financial statements were authorised and approved by the Board on 12 

September 2019 and were authorised for issue and signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Registration Number: RS007814

James D Hayward 

Chair of the Board 

Lyn Peacock 

Company Secretary 

Sue Cash 

Board Member 
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for the year ended 31 March 2019

Association Statement  
of Financial Position
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Financial position Notes
2019 Combined 2018

£’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 11 350,286 343,443

Other tangible fixed assets 12 990 925 

Intangible fixed assets 13 240 170

Investments 14 222 235 

Total fixed assets 351,738  344,773

Current assets

Properties held for sale 15 5,505 4,894 

Trade and other debtors 16 6,851 5,369

Cash and cash equivalents 10,394 59,942

Total current assets 22,750 70,205 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 17 (21,003) (18,752)

Net current assets 1,747 51,453

Total assets less current liabilities 353,485 396,226

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (236,555) (287,673

Pension provision 23 (18,374) (21,154)

Net assets 98,556 87,399 

Reserves

Income and expenditure reserve 96,386 85,643 

Restricted reserve 2,170 1,756 

Total Reserves 98,556 87,399 

The financial statements were authorised and approved by the Board on 12 

September 2019, and were authorised for issue and signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Registration Number: RS007814

James D Hayward 

Chair of the Board 

Lyn Peacock 

Company Secretary 

Sue Cash 

Board Member
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for the year ended 31 March 2019

Group Statement  
of Cash Flows

Cash Flows Notes
2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 23 30,054 27,612 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (20,194) (15,748)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets 3,339 2,906 

Capital grants received 5,191 2,264 

Net cash outflow from investing activities (11,664) (10,578)

Cash flow from financing activities 

Interest paid (9,330) (8,583)

Proceeds of new borrowings - 21,000

Repayments of borrowings including breakage costs (57,975) -

Loan arrangement/restructuring fees (633)  -

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities (67,938) 12,417

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (49,548) 29,451 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 60,000 30,549 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 10,452 60,000 
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Cash Flows Notes
2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 23 30,054 27,612 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (20,194) (15,748)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets 3,339 2,906 

Capital grants received 5,191 2,264 

Net cash outflow from investing activities (11,664) (10,578)

Cash flow from financing activities 

Interest paid (9,330) (8,583)

Proceeds of new borrowings - 21,000

Repayments of borrowings including breakage costs (57,975) -

Loan arrangement/restructuring fees (633)  -

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities (67,938) 12,417

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (49,548) 29,451 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 60,000 30,549 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 10,452 60,000 
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for the year ended 31 March 2019

Group Statement of 
Changes in Reserves

Changes in Reserves
Income and

expenditure 
reserve

Restricted  
reserve Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 April 2017 74,588 1,281 75,869

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,413 - 11,413

Transfer of restricted expenditure from unrestricted 
reserve

(475) 475 -

Transfer to disposal proceeds fund (142) - (142)

As at 31 March 2018 85,384 1,756  87,140

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,374 - 11,374

Transfer of restricted expenditure from unrestricted 
reserve

(414) 414 -

Loan arrangement/restructuring fees (226) - (226)

As at 31 March 2019 96,118 2,170 98,288 

Restricted reserves are for lift replacement and property 

refurbishment. The lift replacement reserve represents 

amounts collected from tenants living in specific blocks 

for the future replacement of the lift in the building(s). 

The property refurbishment reserve represents income 

received for future investment in empty properties in the 

local area. 
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Changes in Reserves
Income and

expenditure 
reserve

Restricted  
reserve Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 April 2017 74,736 1,281 76,017

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,524 - 11,524

Transfer of restricted expenditure from unrestricted 
reserve

(475) 475 -

Transfer to disposal proceeds fund (142) - (142)

As at 31 March 2018 85,643 1,756 87,399

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,383 - 11,383

Transfer of restricted expenditure from unrestricted 
reserve

(414) 414 -

Loan arrangement/restructuring fees (226) - (226)

As at 31 March 2019 96,386 2,170 98,556

Restricted reserves are for lift replacement and property 

refurbishment. The lift replacement reserve represents 

amounts collected from tenants living in specific blocks 

for the future replacement of the lift in the building(s). 

The property refurbishment reserve represents income 

received for future investment in empty properties in the 

local area. 

Association Statements 
of Changes in Reserves 
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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Notes to the  
Financial Statements

Legal status
Beyond Housing Limited (the association) is a 

Community Benefit Society (CBS) incorporated in 

the United Kingdom, registered with the Financial 

Conduct Authority (FCA) as a registered society and 

with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) as a 

registered provider. 

The association’s registered office and principal place 

of business is:

Brook House 

4 Gladstone Road, 

Scarborough, 

North Yorkshire, 

YO12 7BH

Beyond Housing Limited is a Public Benefit Entity and 

its principle activity is noted in the Report of the Board 

of Management on page 6.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with:

• UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK 

GAAP), including The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 

(FRS102)

• The Housing SORP 2014 Statement of 

Recommended Practice for registered social 

housing providers (SORP 2014).

The association has taken advantage of the 

exemption in FRS102 as a qualifying entity not to 

disclose its Statement of Cash Flows. 

The financial statements comply with the Co-

operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, 

the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 

Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 

of Social Housing 2015. The financial statements are 

prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting.

These are the first financial statements presented by 

the entity that conform to FRS 102

The numbers in the financial statements are 

represented in pound sterling and rounded to the 

nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.

A summary of the group’s more important accounting 

policies is set out below.

Going concern 
The group’s business activities, its current financial 

position and factors likely to affect its future 

development are set out within the report of the 

board and strategic report. The group has in place 

long term debt facilities which provide adequate 

resources to finance committed reinvestment and 

development programmes, along with the group’s 

day to day operations. The group also has a long-term 

business plan which shows that it is able to service 

these debt facilities whilst continuing to comply with 

lenders’ covenants.

On this basis, the board has a reasonable expectation 

that the group has adequate resources to continue 

in operational existence for the foreseeable future, 

being a period of at least twelve months after the 

date on which the report and financial statements are 

signed. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 

concern basis in the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation 
The Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 

(SOCI) and Statement of Financial Position consolidate 

the results and financial position of association and 

its subsidiary undertakings. Intra-group turnover, 

surpluses and balances are eliminated fully on 

consolidation.
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Merger Accounting SORP/FRS102
The merger of Cost & country Housing and Yorkshire 

Coast Homes took place on 1 October 2018. These 

financial statements have been prepared under 

merger accounting principles because the ultimate 

equity holders remain the same and no controlling 

interest in the net assets of the group is altered. Merger 

accounting involves combining all of the results and 

cash flows of all the amalgamated parties from the 

beginning of the financial year in which the merger 

occurs. The comparative amounts are restated by 

including the results of all the combining entities for 

the previous accounting period and by combining their 

statement of financial positions as at the previous 

reporting date. The board consider that merger 

accounting is appropriate because the amalgamation 

satisfied the following criteria:

• No party to the combination was portrayed as 

either acquirer or acquired, either by its own board 

or management or by that of another party to the 

combination;

• There was no significant change to the classes 

of beneficiaries of the combining entities or the 

purpose of the benefits provided as a result of the 

combination; and

• All parties to the combination, as represented by the 

members of the board, participated in establishing 

the management structure of the combined entity 

and in selecting the management personnel, and 

such decisions are made on the basis of a consensus 

between the parties to the combination rather than 

purely by exercise of voting rights.

As the board consider that all criteria were met, 

merger accounting was required to be applied in the 

preparation of these financial statements. As the entity 

has been formed from the legal amalgamation of the 

historic constituent entities, merger accounting has 

also been applied in the preparation of the parent only 

financial statements.

Significant judgements  
and estimates
Preparation of financial statements requires 

management to make significant judgements and 

estimates. The judgements and estimates which have 

the most significant impact on amounts recognised in 

the financial statements are set out below. Capitalisation of housing  
property development costs
The group capitalises development expenditure 

in accordance with its accounting policy. Initial 

capitalisation of costs is based on an assessment of the 

likelihood of the development proceeding. Thereafter, 

ongoing project monitoring assesses the requirement 

for any impairment.

Capitalisation of  
development interest
Interest is capitalised on borrowings to finance the 

development of qualifying asset. Interest is charged 

on borrowings specifically financing the development 

programme after the deduction of related grants 

and sales receipts received during the period of 

development.

Impairment of fixed assets
Annually housing properties are assessed for 

impairment indicators. Where indicators are identified 

an assessment for impairment is undertaken comparing 

the scheme’s carrying amount to its recoverable 

amount. Where the carrying amount of a scheme 

is deemed to exceed its recoverable amount, the 

scheme is written down to its recoverable amount. The 

resulting impairment loss is recognised as operating 

expenditure. Where a scheme is deemed not to be 

providing service potential to the organisation, its 

recoverable amount would be its fair value less costs to 

sell.

Impairment of debtors
The organisation makes an estimate of the recoverable 

value of trade and other debtors. When assessing 

impairment of trade and other debtors, management 

considers factors including the age profile of the 

debtors and historical experience. See note 16 for the 

net carrying amount of the debtors and associated 

impairment provision.

Significant  
management 
judgements
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Estimation  
uncertainty
Information about estimates and assumptions that 

have the most significant effect on recognition and 

measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is 

provided below.

Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives 

of depreciable assets at each reporting date based on 

the expected utility of the asset. Uncertainties in these 

estimates relate to technological obsolescence that may 

change the utility of certain software and IT equipment 

and changes to decent homes standards which may 

require more frequent replacement of key components. 

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2019 was £83m.

Defined benefit pension  
assets/liabilities
Defined benefit pension asset and liability estimates are 

based on a series of assumptions including inflation rates, 

mortality, discount rates and future salary increases. 

Variations in these assumptions may significantly impact 

the cost of the defined benefit pension fund’s benefits and 

future liabilities. Both the fund’s liability at 31 March 2019 is 

£18.4m (2018: £21.2m). 

Turnover
Turnover comprises rental income receivable in the year, 

income from shared ownership first tranche sales, sales of 

properties built for sale, other services supplied in the year 

and grants receivable in the year.

Rental income is recognised from the point where 

properties under development reach practical completion 

or otherwise become available for letting, net of any voids. 

Income from first tranche sales and sales of properties 

built for sale is recognised at the point of legal completion 

of the sale.

Housing properties
Housing properties are properties held for the provision 

of social housing or to otherwise provide social benefit. 

Housing properties are principally dwellings available for 

rent and are stated at cost less depreciation. Cost includes 

the cost of the transferred stock from Scarborough 

Borough Council and subsequent expenditure incurred in 

respect of improvements, the cost of acquiring land and 

buildings and development costs and interest charges 

incurred during the development period. 

Works to existing properties which replace a 

component that has been treated separately for 

depreciation purposes, along with those works that 

result in an increase in net rental income over the lives 

of the properties, thereby enhancing the economic 

benefits of the assets, are capitalised as improvements.

Shared ownership properties are split proportionally 

between current and fixed assets based on the element 

relating to expected first tranche sales. The first tranche 

proportion is classed as a current asset and related 

sales proceeds included in turnover and the remaining 

element is classed as a fixed asset and included in 

housing properties at cost, less any provisions needed 

for depreciation or impairment.

Properties for sale 

Shared ownership first tranche sales, completed 

properties for outright sale and property under 

construction are valued at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour 

and direct development overheads. Net realisable value 

is based on estimated sales price after allowing for all 

further costs of completion and disposal.

Depreciation of housing properties
The group separately identifies the major components of 

its housing properties and charges depreciation so as to 

write down the cost of each component to its estimated 

residual value, on a straight line basis, over its estimated 

useful economic life.

The group depreciates the major components of its 

housing properties over the following useful economic 

lives:

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Component
Estimated useful  

economic life (years)

Property structure 80/90 (Redcar/Scarborough)

Roof 60

Windows 30

Kitchen 20

Bathroom 30

Electrical 30

Doors 30

Boiler 15

Heating system 30

Lifts 20
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Other tangible fixed assets
Depreciation is provided evenly on the cost of other 

tangible fixed assets to write them down to their 

estimated residual values over their expected useful 

lives. The expected useful lives for the purposes of these 

financial statements are:

Intangible fixed assets
Amortisation is provided evenly on the cost of intangible 

fixed assets to write them down to their estimated 

residual values over their expected useful lives. The 

expected useful lives for the purposes of these financial 

statements are:

Impairment
Reviews for indicators of impairment of housing 

properties are carried out on an annual basis and any 

impairment in an income generating unit is recognised by 

a charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. An 

impairment is recognised where the carrying value of an 

income generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount 

being the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 

value in use.

Government/other grants
Government grants include grants receivable from the 

Regulator of Social Housing, local authorities, and other 

government organisations. Government grants received 

for housing properties are recognised in income over the 

useful life of the housing property structure and, where 

applicable, its individual components (excluding land) 

under the accruals model.

Grants relating to revenue are recognised in income and 

expenditure over the same period as the expenditure to 

which they relate once reasonable assurance has been 

gained that the entity will comply with the conditions and 

that the funds will be received. 

Grants due from government organisations or received 

in advance are included as current assets or liabilities. 

Government grant received for housing properties is 

subordinated to the repayment of loans by agreement 

with the Regulator. Government grants released on sale 

of a property may be repayable but are normally available 

to be recycled and are credited to a Recycled Capital 

Grant Fund and included in the Statement of Financial 

Position in creditors.

If there is no requirement to recycle or repay the grant on 

disposal of the asset, any unamortised grant remaining 

within creditors is released and recognised as income in 

income and expenditure. Where individual components 

are disposed of and this does not create a relevant 

event for recycling purposes, any grant which has been 

allocated to the component is released to income and 

expenditure. Upon disposal of the associated property, 

the Organisation is required to recycle these proceeds 

and recognise them as a liability.

Leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the 

SOCI on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of cash amounts held on 

deposit. 

Employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits are 

recognised as a liability and an expense. The best 

estimate of the expenditure required to settle an 

obligation for termination benefits is recognised 

immediately as an expense when the RP is demonstrably 

committed to terminate the employment of an employee 

or to provide termination benefits.

Pension costs 

The association participates in a defined benefit pension 

fund and operates two defined contribution schemes.

Defined contribution plans
For defined contribution schemes the amount charged 

to income and expenditure is the contributions payable 

in the year. Differences between contributions payable 

in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as 

either accruals or prepayments.

Component
Estimated useful  

economic life (years)

Freehold offices 50 years

Shared ownership properties 50 years

Fixtures and fittings 5 years

Computers and office equipment 3-5 years

Other equipment 3-5 years

Independent Supported Living 
equipment

15 years

Component
Estimated useful  

economic life (years)

Computer software 3-5 years
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Defined benefit plan
The net defined benefit asset/liability represents the 

present value of the defined benefit obligation minus the 

fair value of the plan assets out of which obligations are 

to be settled. Any asset resulting from this calculation 

is limited to the present value of available refunds or 

reductions in future contributions to the plan. The rate 

used to discount the benefit obligations to their present 

value is based on market yields for high quality corporate 

bonds with terms and currencies consistent with those of 

the benefit obligations.

Gains or losses recognised in the profit or loss:

• The change in the net defined benefit liability arising 

from employee service during the year is recognised as 

an employee cost

• The cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, 

settlements and curtailments are recognised as incurred

• Net interest on the net defined benefit asset/liability 

comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit 

obligation and interest income on the plan assets, 

calculated by multiplying the fair value of the plan 

assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to 

discount the benefit obligations.

Gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive 

income:

• Actuarial gains and losses

• The difference between the interest income on the plan 

assets and the actual return on the plan assets.

Taxation
Current tax is recognised for the amount of income tax 

payable in respect of the taxable surplus for the current 

or past reporting periods using the tax rates and laws 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

reporting date.

Value Added Tax (VAT)
The group is partially exempt from VAT. A small proportion 

of VAT is reclaimed. The balance of VAT payable or 

recoverable at the year-end is included as a current liability 

or asset.

Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost and are 

assessed for impairment at each reporting date.

HomeBuy
HomeBuy loans are treated as concessionary loans. 

They are initially recognised at the amount paid to the 

purchaser and reviewed annually for impairment. The 

associated HomeBuy grant is recognised as deferred 

income until the loan is redeemed.

Financial instruments
The group has elected to apply the provisions of Section 

11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 12 ‘Other 

Financial Instruments Issues’ of FRS102, in full, to all of 

its financial instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 

when the group become a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument, and are offset only when 

the group currently has a legally enforceable right to set 

off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle 

on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 

liability simultaneously.

Financial assets
Debtors

Debtors which are receivable within one year and 

which do not constitute a financing transaction are 

initially measured at transaction price. Trade debtors 

and other debtors are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, being the transaction price less any 

amounts settled and any impairment losses.

Where the arrangements with a trade debtor constitute 

a financing transaction, the debtor is initially and 

subsequently measured at the present value of future 

payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a 

similar debt instrument.

A provision for impairment of debtors is established 

when there is objective evidence that the amounts due 

will not be collected according to the original terms of 

the contract. Impairment losses are recognised in the 

profit or loss for the excess of the carrying value of 

the trade debtor over the present value of the future 

cash flows discounted using the original effective 

interest rate. Subsequent reversals of an impairment 

loss that objectively relate to an event occurring after 

the impairment loss was recognised, are recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities
Trade creditors

Trade creditors payable within one year that do 

not constitute a financing transaction are initially 

measured at the transaction price and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, being the transaction 

price less any amounts settled.

Where the arrangement with a trade creditor 

constitutes a financing transaction, the creditor is 

initially and subsequently measured at the present 

value of future payments discounted at a market rate 

of interest for a similar instrument.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at the transaction 

price, including transaction costs, and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. Interest expense is recognised on the 

basis of the effective interest method and is included 

in interest payable and other similar charges.

Derecognition of financial  
assets and liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual 

rights to cash flows expire or are settled, or substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 

to another party, or if some significant risks and rewards 

of ownership are retained but control of the asset has 

transferred to another party that is able to sell the asset in 

its entirety to an unrelated third party. A financial liability 

(or part thereof) is derecognised when the obligation 

specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Holiday pay accrual
A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused holiday 

pay entitlement which has accrued at the reporting date 

and carried forward to future periods. This is measured 

at the undiscounted salary cost of the future holiday 

entitlement accrued at the reporting date. 

Restricted reserve
The group has established a restricted reserve for the 

purposes of lift replacement, property refurbishment and 

Big Lottery funding. The reserve is restricted as the funding 

received is for a specific use and cannot be used for other 

purposes identified by management.
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Group – Year ended  
31 March 2019

Turnover Cost of sales
Operating

expenditure 

Operating 
surplus/  
(deficit)

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 68,168 - (53,344) 14,824

Other social housing activities

First tranche shared ownership sales 218 (129) - 89

Grant released to income assets 687 - - 687

Other 1,567 - (3,327) (1,760)

Non-social housing activities 

Lettings 597 - (224) 373

Sale of non-social housing properties 560 (473) - 87

Merger costs 1,865 - 109 1,974

Total 73,662 (602) (56,786) 16,274

Group – Year ended  
31 March 2018

Turnover Cost of sales
Operating

expenditure 

Operating 
surplus/  
(deficit)

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 68,310 - (49,292) 19,018

Other social housing activities

First tranche shared ownership sales 1,061 (527) - 534

Grant released to income assets 604 - - 604

Other 2,143 - (2,408) (265)

Non-social housing activities 

Lettings 597 - (182) 415

Sale of non-social housing properties 235 (178) - 57

Other 1,846 - (3,738) (1,892)

Total 74,796 (705) (55,620) 18,471

2a Turnover, cost of sales, operating 
expenditure and operating surplus
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Group – Year ended  
31 March 2019

Turnover Cost of sales
Operating

expenditure 

Operating 
surplus/  
(deficit)

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 68,168 - (53,344) 14,824

Other social housing activities

First tranche shared ownership sales 218 (129) - 89

Grant released to income assets 687 - - 687

Other 1,567 - (3,327) (1,760)

Non-social housing activities 

Lettings 597 - (224) 373

Sale of non-social housing properties 560 (473) - 87

Merger costs 1,865 - 109 1,974

Total 73,662 (602) (56,786) 16,274

Group – Year ended  
31 March 2018

Turnover Cost of sales
Operating

expenditure 

Operating 
surplus/  
(deficit)

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 68,310 - (49,292) 19,018

Other social housing activities

First tranche shared ownership sales 1,061 (527) - 534

Grant released to income assets 604 - - 604

Other 2,143 - (2,408) (265)

Non-social housing activities 

Lettings 597 - (182) 415

Sale of non-social housing properties 235 (178) - 57

Other 1,846 - (3,738) (1,892)

Total 74,796 (705) (55,620) 18,471

Association – Year  
ended 31 March 2019

Turnover Cost of sales
Operating

expenditure 

Operating 
surplus/  
(deficit)

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 68,168 - 53,355 14,813

Other social housing activities

First tranche shared ownership sales 218 (129) - 89

Grant released to income 687 - - 687

Other (merger costs) 1,567 - (3,306) (1,739)

Non-social housing activities 

Lettings 597 - (224) 373

Sale of non-social housing properties 560 (473) - 87

Other 1,865 - 109 1,974

Total 73,662 (602) (56,776) 16,284

Association – Year  
ended 31 March 2018

Turnover Cost of sales
Operating

expenditure 

Operating 
surplus/  
(deficit)

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 68,310 - (49,303) 19,007

Other social housing activities

First tranche shared ownership sales 1,061 (527) - 534

Grant released to income 604 - - 604

Other 2,143 - (2,389) (246)

Non-social housing activities 

Lettings 597 - (182) 415

Sale of non-social housing properties - - - -

Other 2,026    - (3,738) (1,712)

Total 74,741 (527) (55,612) 18,602

In 2017/18 non-social housing (other) operating expenditure included a land impairment for £2m. 

During 2018/19 new management revisited the impairment assumptions and after consideration 

agreed to reverse the impairment in 2019/20 on the basis that the land did hold value.
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2b Income and expenditure from 
social housing lettings

Group
General 
Housing 

Supporting 
Housing & 

Housing for 
Older People 

2019
Total 

2018
Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income

Rents receivable 65,191 1,454 66,645 66,750 

Service charges receivable 1,349 174 1,523 1,560 

Net rents receivable 66,540 1,628 68,168 68,310 

Other revenue grants - - - -

Total income from social housing lettings 66,540 1,628 68,168 68,310 

Expenditure 

Management (19,478) (359) (19,837) (19,605)

Service charge costs (1,225) (186) (1,411) (1,458)

Routine maintenance (9,633) (88) (9,721) (9,385)

Planned maintenance (4,584) (46) (4,630) (3,581)

Major repairs expenditure (6,068) (50) (6,118) (4,280)

Rent losses from bad debts (689) (1) (690) (554)

Depreciation of housing properties (10,730) (207) (10,937) (10,429)

Total expenditure on social housing lettings (52,407) (937) (53,344) (49,292)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 14,133 691 14,824 19,018

Rent losses from voids 717 22 739 946
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Association
General 
Housing 

Supporting 
Housing & 

Housing for 
Older People 

2019
Total 

2018
Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income

Rents receivable 65,191 1,454 66,645 66,750 

Service charges receivable 1,349 174 1,523 1,560 

Net rents receivable 66,540 1,628 68,168 68,310 

Other revenue grants - - - -

Total income from social housing lettings 66,540 1,628 68,168 68,310 

Expenditure 

Management (19,478) (359) (19,837) (19,605)

Service charge costs (1,225) (186) (1,411) (1,458)

Routine maintenance (9,633) (88) (9,721) (9,385)

Planned maintenance (4,584) (46) (4,630) (3,581)

Major repairs expenditure (6,068) (50) (6,118) (4,280)

Rent losses from bad debts (689) (1) (690) (554)

Depreciation of housing properties (10,741) (207) (10,948) (10,440)

Total expenditure on social housing lettings (52,418) (937) (53,355) (49,303)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 14,122 691 14,813 19,007

Rent losses from voids 717 22 739 946

Group
General 
Housing 

Supporting 
Housing & 

Housing for 
Older People 

2019
Total 

2018
Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income

Rents receivable 65,191 1,454 66,645 66,750 

Service charges receivable 1,349 174 1,523 1,560 

Net rents receivable 66,540 1,628 68,168 68,310 

Other revenue grants - - - -

Total income from social housing lettings 66,540 1,628 68,168 68,310 

Expenditure 

Management (19,478) (359) (19,837) (19,605)

Service charge costs (1,225) (186) (1,411) (1,458)

Routine maintenance (9,633) (88) (9,721) (9,385)

Planned maintenance (4,584) (46) (4,630) (3,581)

Major repairs expenditure (6,068) (50) (6,118) (4,280)

Rent losses from bad debts (689) (1) (690) (554)

Depreciation of housing properties (10,730) (207) (10,937) (10,429)

Total expenditure on social housing lettings (52,407) (937) (53,344) (49,292)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 14,133 691 14,824 19,018

Rent losses from voids 717 22 739 946
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3 Housing stock
At the end of the year unit of housing accommodation in management were as follows:

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing

General needs social 14,024 14,108 14,024 14,108

General needs affordable 524 469 524 469

Shared ownership 220 225 220 225

Supported housing affordable 37 12 37 12

Housing for older people social 205 205 205 205

Housing for older people affordable 67 67 67 67

Market rent 3 4 3 4

Staff accommodation 5 6 5 6

Total owned and managed 15,085 15,096 15,085 15,096 

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Depreciation of housing properties 10,779 10,198 10,791 10,198

Depreciation of other tangible fixed assets 150 283 150 283

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 63 88 63 88

Operating lease rentals 1,289 1,062 1,289 1,062

External auditor’s remuneration for audit 
services

56 64 46 53

External auditor’s remuneration for non-audit services:

Taxation compliance and advice 5 8 3 5

All other non-audit services - 33 - 33

4 Operating surplus
The operating surplus is stated after charging:

Additionally there were 12 units owned but not managed at the year-end (2018: 12) giving 15,097 total units.
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5 Gain on disposal of housing properties

6 Interest receivable

7 Interest and financing costs

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Disposal proceeds 3,339 2,906 3,339 2,906 

Carrying value of fixed assets  (1,734) (1,173) (1,734) (1,173)

 1,605 1,733  1,605 1,733

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest on bank deposits 93 74 92 74

Interest from other investments 4 4 4 4

 97 78 96 78

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 9,220 9,558 9,220 9,558 

Loan restructuring fees 633 - 633 -

Loan breakage costs 975 - 975 -

Defined benefit pension charge 506 500 506 500

11,334 10,058 11,334 10,058 

Less interest capitalised on housing properties 
under construction

(153) (367) (153) (367)

 11,181 9,691 11,181 9,691
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8 Emoluments of the board, executive 
directors and senior staff

Association

2019 2018 

£’000 £’000

S Hardwick 10 7

P Baren 9 8

J Hayward (Chair) 7 -

S Cash 6 5

R Frankland 6 5

C Cook 3 5

P McGrath 3 5

L Pallister 3 5

F Yeomans 3 -

A Gambles 3 -

J Jones 3 -

N Barton (Chair) 2 12

M Broadbent - -

K Abson 2 -

W Chatt - -

J Cruise 1 8

  61 60

Expenses reimbursed to board members not chargeable 

to UK income tax were £5,052 (2018: £5,301).

Rosemary Du Rose is the Chief Executive and her 

emoluments are included in the executive directors’ 

emoluments overleaf.

The Chief Executive is a member of a Beyond Housing 

defined contribution scheme. Employer pension 

contributions for 2018/19 were £3.5k. 

The following disclosures relate to members of 

staff who are directors as defined in the Accounting 

Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 

Housing 2015.
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Association

2019 2018 

£’000 £’000

Executive directors’ emoluments

Remuneration 852 1,121

Pension contributions 51 70

Total 903 1,191

The total remuneration of key management personnel, 

who equate to the group’s executive directors, was 

£903,000 (2018: £1,191,000).

Expenses reimbursed to executive directors not 

chargeable to UK income tax were £3,184 (2018: £9,308).

The numbers of executive directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing under:

The emoluments of the highest paid directors excluding 

pension and benefits were as follows:

2019 2018 

£’000 £’000

T Hainey 114 106

P Lenehan 112 106

T O’Neill 111 100

D Gordon 70 94

K Oxborough 52 56

I Sim 47 180

R Du Rose 39 -

L Woodward 20 42

S Turner 7 95

O Ingram 223 264

B Miller - 69

S Tymon - 9

R Farrar (interim) 57 -

2019 2018 

£’000 £’000

Defined contribution schemes was 3 2

Defined benefit schemes was 5 7

70 Beyond Housing  Annual Report   |   Association Statement of Financial Position



The average number of employees employed during 

the period, expressed in full time equivalents (FTE) was:

The basis of the FTE calculation is to average the total 

monthly closing full time equivalent over the twelve month 

period. Each month the closing FTE position is calculated 

by adding starters, removing leavers and adjusting for the 

time people are employed in a given month. 

The full time equivalent number of staff who received 

remuneration, excluding Executive Directors, was as follows:

2019 2018 

No No

£60,001 – £70,00 4 3

£70,001 - £80,000 3 3

£80,001 - £90,000 6 4

£90,001 - £100,000 1 4

9 Employees

Group and association 

2019 2018 

No. No.

Office staff 397 403

Domestic 20 19

Workforce 274 260

 691 682

Group and association 

2019 2018 

No. No.

Wages and salaries 19,089 18,996

Social security costs 1,765 1,760

Other pension costs 3,481 3,704

 24,335 24,460

Changes to contracted hours are also captured 

in the calculation. Employee costs for the above 

employees were:
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10 Taxation

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current tax

UK corporation tax on surplus for the year 17 (35) 17 (15)

Deferred tax

Net origination and reversal of timing 
differences

- - - -

Total tax reconciliation

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 6,795 10,591 6,804 10,722

Theoretical tax at current UK 

Corporation tax rate of 19% (2018: 19%) 1,291 2,012 1,293 2,037

Effects of:

Charitable companies’ surplus (1,274) (2,047) (1,276) (2,052)

Deferred tax adjustment - - - -

Total tax charge 17 (35) 17 (15)
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11 Fixed assets – Housing properties

Group

Social 
housing 

properties 
held for 

letting

Housing 
properties 
for letting 

under 
construction

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties  

Shared 
ownership 

housing 
properties 

under 
construction 

Other 
property 

Total 
housing 

properties 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Valuation or cost

1 April 2018 389,807 4,784 17,980 - 14,270 426,841

Additions 1,932 9,173 - 2,350 - 13,453

Property 
improvements

4,454 213 1 - 76 4,744

Land transfer - 195 - - (195) -

Schemes completed 7,813 (7,813) 357 (357) 0 -

Disposals (10,854) - (1,023) - - (11,877)

Capitalised interest - 153 - - - 153

Transfer from current 
assets

- 217  (190) (638) - (611)

At 31 March 2019 393,152 6,921 17,125 1,355 14,151 432,704

Depreciation and impairment

1 April 2018 (79,464) (702) (650) - (3,097) (83,913)

Charge for year        (10,410) - (277) - (92) (10,779)

Released on disposal 9,673 - 30 - - 9,703

Impairment - - - - 2,032             2,032              

At 31 March 2019 (80,201) (702) (897) - (1,157) (82,957)

Carrying amount:

31 March 2019 312,951 6,217 16,228 1,355 12,994 349,747

Restated 31 March 
2018

310,343 4,082 17,330 - 11,173 342,928
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11 Fixed assets – Housing properties (continued)

Association

Social 
housing 

properties 
held for 

letting

Housing 
properties 
for letting 

under 
construction

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties  

Shared 
ownership 

housing 
properties 

under 
construction 

Other 
property 

Total 
housing 

properties 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

1 April 2018 390,357 4,784 17,980 - 14,270 427,391

Additions 1,932 9,208 - 2,350 - 13,490

Property 
improvements

4,45 213 1 - 76 4,744

Land transfer - 195 - - (195) -

Schemes completed 7,813 (7,813) 357 (357) - -

Disposals (10,854) - (1,023) - - (11,877)

Capitalised interest - 153 - - - 153

Transfer from  
current assets

- 217  (190) (638) - (611)

At 31 March 2019 393,702 6,957 17,125 1,355 14,151 433,290

Depreciation and impairment

Restated 1 April 2018 (79,499) (702) (650) - (3,097) (83,948)

Charge for year (10,422) - (277) - (92) (10,791)

Released on disposal 9,673 - 30 - - 9,703

Impairment - - - -            2,032                  2,032

At 31 March 2019 (80,248) (702) (897) - (1,157) (83,004)

Carrying amount:

31 March 2019 313,454 6,255 16,228 1,355 12,994 350,286

At 31 March 2019 310,858 4,082 17,330 - 11,173 343,443
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11 Fixed assets – Housing properties (continued)

12 Fixed assets – Other tangible fixed 
assets group and association

Association

Social 
housing 

properties 
held for 

letting

Housing 
properties 
for letting 

under 
construction

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties  

Shared 
ownership 

housing 
properties 

under 
construction 

Other 
property 

Total 
housing 

properties 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

1 April 2018 390,357 4,784 17,980 - 14,270 427,391

Additions 1,932 9,208 - 2,350 - 13,490

Property 
improvements

4,45 213 1 - 76 4,744

Land transfer - 195 - - (195) -

Schemes completed 7,813 (7,813) 357 (357) - -

Disposals (10,854) - (1,023) - - (11,877)

Capitalised interest - 153 - - - 153

Transfer from  
current assets

- 217  (190) (638) - (611)

At 31 March 2019 393,702 6,957 17,125 1,355 14,151 433,290

Depreciation and impairment

Restated 1 April 2018 (79,499) (702) (650) - (3,097) (83,948)

Charge for year (10,422) - (277) - (92) (10,791)

Released on disposal 9,673 - 30 - - 9,703

Impairment - - - -            2,032                  2,032

At 31 March 2019 (80,248) (702) (897) - (1,157) (83,004)

Carrying amount:

31 March 2019 313,454 6,255 16,228 1,355 12,994 350,286

At 31 March 2019 310,858 4,082 17,330 - 11,173 343,443

Fixtures and 
Fittings

Computers 
and Office 

Equipment

Other 
Equipment

    Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

1 April 2018 300 989 1,094 2,383

Additions - 190 25 215

At 31 March 2019 300 1,179 1,119 2,598

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 April 2018 (300) (453) (705) (1,458)

Depreciation charged in year - (80) (70) (150)

At 31 March 2019 (300) (533) (775) (1,608)

Carrying amount:

31 March 2019 - 646 344 990

At 31 March 2019 - 536 389 925

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Freehold land and buildings 341,937 338,604 342,441 339,118

Long leasehold land and buildings 235 247 235 247

342,172 338,851 342,676 339,365

Expenditure on works to existing 
properties comprises:

Group and association

2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Components capitalised 4,531 5,690

Amounts charged to income and expenditure 23,162 20,172

27,693 25,862
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13 Fixed assets - intangible

14 Fixed assets - investments

Group and association 
Software Total

£’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 April 2018 1,075 1,075 

Additions 133 133 

At 31 March 2019 1,208 1,208 

Depreciation and impairment

At 1 April 2018 (905) (905) 

Depreciation charged in year  (63)  (63)

At 31 March 2019 (968) (968)

Carrying amount:

31 March 2019 240 240

At 31 March 2019 170 170

Group and association 
HomeBuy loan Total

£’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 April 2018 270 270

Disposals (13) (13)

31 March 2019 257 257

Depreciation and impairment

At 31 March 2019 35 35

Carrying amount:

At 31 March 2019 222 222

31 March 2019 235 235
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15 Properties held for sale

16 Debtors

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Shared ownership properties:

Completed properties 214 90 214 90 

Work in progress 704 - 704 - 

Properties for outright sale:

Completed properties - - - - 

Work in progress 4,587 4,804 4,587 4,804 

5,505 4,894 5,505 4,894

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Rent and services receivable 3,876 4,714 3,876 4,714

Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts (1,475) (1,594) (1,475) (1,594)

2,401 3,120 2,401 3,120

Social Housing Grant receivable 2,244 48 2,244 48

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 2 - 

Trade debtors 319 329 319 322 

Other debtors 231 346 231 346

Prepayments and accrued income 1,594 1,507 1,594 1,507

6,789 5,350 6,791 5,343

Amounts falling due after one year:

Other debtors 60 26 60 26

6,849 5,376 6,851 5,369
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17 Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

18 Creditors: Amounts falling 
due after more than one year

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rent and service charges received in advance 1,152 979 1,152 979 

Trade creditors 1,822 1,527 1,823 1,527 

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertaking - - 227 227 

Other taxation and social security costs 369 378 369 377 

Other creditors 2,022 2,432 2,022 2,432

Accruals and deferred income 5,423 4,308 5,410 4,273 

Housing loans (note 19) 10,000 8,937 10,000 8,937 

20,788 18,561 21,003 18,752 

Expenditure on works to existing 
properties comprises:

Group and association

2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Housing loans (note 19) 190,000 248,063 

Camphill Village Trust Loan (note 19) 55 55

Recycled Capital Grant Fund (note 20) 592 439 

Disposal Proceeds Fund (note 21) 1,576 2,023 

Deferred Capital Grant (note 22) 44,332 37,093 

236,555 287,673 
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19 Debt analysis

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rent and service charges received in advance 1,152 979 1,152 979 

Trade creditors 1,822 1,527 1,823 1,527 

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertaking - - 227 227 

Other taxation and social security costs 369 378 369 377 

Other creditors 2,022 2,432 2,022 2,432

Accruals and deferred income 5,423 4,308 5,410 4,273 

Housing loans (note 19) 10,000 8,937 10,000 8,937 

20,788 18,561 21,003 18,752 

Group and association

2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Fixed rate borrowings 165,667 171,000

Floating rate borrowings 34,333 86,000

200,000 257,000

Group and association

2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Due within one year 10,000 8,937

Between two and five years 75,375 16,675

In five years or more 114,625 231,388

200,000 257,000

At 31 March 2019, the group had drawn loans of £200m. 

These are bilateral loans with three separate lenders 

and are secured by a charge over the group’s housing 

properties.

The repayment of these loans is determined by a fixed 

repayment profile, with the loan being repaid in full by 

October 2036.

The interest rate risk profile of the loans comprises:

Interest rates on fixed rate borrowings range between 

0.97% and 5.61%, with a weighted average of 4.55%. Interest 

rates on floating rate borrowings are based upon LIBOR.

At 31 March 2019 the group had undrawn loan facilities of 

£108.3m secured and available (2018: £34m).

The loans are repayable as follows:

In addition the organisation had a Camphill Village Trust 

interest free loan of £55,000 which relates to the cost of 

purchasing 50% of a property to specifically house a tenant 

of the trust. The loan will be repaid when the tenant 

vacates the property.
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20 Recycled capital grant fund

21 Disposal proceeds fund

22 Deferred capital grant

Expenditure on works to existing 
properties comprises:

Group and association

2019 2018

£’000 £’000

At 1 April 439 304 

Grants recycled 213 135 

Recycling of grant (60) -

At 31 March 592 439

Amounts 3 years old or older where repayment 
may be required

243 85

Expenditure on works to existing 
properties comprises:

Group and association

2019 2018

£’000 £’000

At 1 April 2,023 2,015

Net PRTB receipts - -

Interest accrued 13 8

Allocated funds (460) -

At 31 March 1,576 2,023

Amounts 3 years old or older where repayment 
may be requiredmay be required

1,231 1,435

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 37,093 36,400 37,093 36,400 

Grant received in the year 7,924 1,299 7,924 1,299 

Capital grant released (685) (606) (685) (606)

At 31 March 44,332 37,093 44,332 37,093 
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23 Pensions

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 37,093 36,400 37,093 36,400 

Grant received in the year 7,924 1,299 7,924 1,299 

Capital grant released (685) (606) (685) (606)

At 31 March 44,332 37,093 44,332 37,093 

The group participates in five pension schemes. Two of the schemes, the 
North Yorkshire Pension Fund and the Teesside Pension Fund, are defined 
benefit plans. The other three schemes are defined contribution plans and are 
provided by Standard Life, the National Employment Savings Trust workplace 
pension scheme (NEST) and The Pensions Trust. 

The disclosures below relate to the association’s 

membership of the North Yorkshire Pension Fund and the 

Teesside Pension Fund (the fund) which are part of the 

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 

The funded nature of the LGPS requires participating 

employers and its employees to pay contributions 

into the fund, calculated at a level intended to balance 

the pension liabilities with investment assets. The last 

actuarial valuation was completed at 31 March 2016. The 

next actuarial valuation of the fund will be carried out at 

31 March 2019. The Fund Administering Authorities, North 

Yorkshire Country Council and Middlesbrough Borough 

Council, are responsible for the governance of the funds.

There are a number of key risks associated with the fund in relation to accounting:

The assets allocated to the association in the funds are 

notional and are assumed to be invested in line with the 

investments of the funds for the purposes of calculating 

the return to be applied to those notional assets over 

the accounting period. The funds are large and hold a 

significant proportion of their assets in liquid investments. 

As a consequence there will be no significant restriction 

on realising assets if a large payment is required to 

be made from the funds in relation to an employer’s 

liabilities. The assets are invested in a diversified spread 

of investments and the approximate split of assets for the 

fund as a whole is shown below.

Asset volatility

The liabilities used for accounting 

purposes are calculated using a 

discount rate set with reference 

to corporate bond yields. If assets 

underperform this yield this would 

create a deficit in the accounts. The 

fund holds a significant proportion of 

growth assets which, while expected 

to outperform corporate bonds in 

the long term, creates volatility and 

risk in the short term in relation to 

the accounting figures.

A decrease in corporate bond yields 

will increase the value placed on the 

liabilities for accounting purposes 

although this will be marginally 

offset by the increase in the assets 

as a result.

Inflation risk

The majority of the pension 

liabilities are linked to either salary 

or price inflation. Higher inflation 

expectations will lead to a higher 

liability value of the fund. The fund 

assets are either unaffected, or 

loosely correlated, with inflation, 

meaning that an increase in inflation 

will increase the fund deficit.

Life expectancy

The majority of the fund’s 

obligations are to provide benefits 

for the life of the member following 

retirement, so increases in life 

expectancy will result in an increase 

in the fund’s liabilities.

Exiting employers

Employers who leave the fund 

may have to make an exit payment 

to meet any shortfall in assets 

against their pension liabilities. If the 

employer is not able to meet this exit 

payment the liability may, in certain 

circumstances, fall upon the other 

employers in the fund. Furthermore, 

the assets at exit in respect of 

‘orphan liabilities’ may, in retrospect, 

be insufficient to meet the liabilities. 

This risk may therefore fall upon 

other employers. ‘Orphan liabilities’ 

are currently a small proportion of 

the fund’s overall liabilities.   
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23 Pensions (continued)

Financial assumptions

The financial assumptions used to calculate the 

defined benefit section liabilities under FRS102 are:

Mortality assumptions

Mortality assumptions are based on the recent mortality 

experience of members within the fund and allow for 

expected future mortality improvements. Sample life 

expectancies resulting from these mortality assumptions are:

North Yorkshire Teesside

2019 2018 2019 2018

% p.a % p.a % p.a % p.a 

Valuation method Projected unit Projected unit

Discount rate 2.50% 2.60% 2.50% 2.60%

Retail Price Index (RPI) inflation 3.20% 3.10% 3.20% 3.10%

Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation 2.10% 2.00% 2.10% 2.00%

Pension increases 2.10% 2.00% 2.10% 2.00%

Salary increases 3.35% 3.25% 3.10% 3.00%

North Yorkshire Teesside

2019 2018 2019 2018

No. of years No. of years No. of years No. of years

Males

Members aged 65 (current life expectancy) 22.2 22.9 22.2 22.9

Members aged 45 (life expectancy at 65) 23.9 25.1 23.9 25.1

Females

Members aged 65 (current life expectancy) 25.3 26.4 24.1 25.0

Members aged 45 (life expectancy at 65) 27.2 28.7 25.9 27.3
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Amounts recognised in the surplus for the year

According to FRS102 the pension asset relating to the North 

Yorkshire pension fund should not be recognised unless it 

leads to lower employer contributions or a refund, this will 

become clearer following the actuarial valuation in 2019/20. 

Therefore the asset is not recognised on the Statement of 

Financial Position.

Amount of gains and losses recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

North Yorkshire Teesside

2019 2018 2019 2018

% p.a % p.a % p.a % p.a 

Current service cost 677 832 2,354 2,456

Interest expense (see note 7) (25) (6) 531 500

Past service cost - - - 72

652 826 2,885 3,028

North Yorkshire Teesside

2019 2018 2019 2018

% p.a % p.a % p.a % p.a 

Actuarial gains/(losses) on fund assets 1,620 1,311 4,623 777

Actuarial (losses) gains on fund liabilities (57) (92) (393) (462)

Actuarial gain not recognised            (1,197) (747) - -

Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised 366 472 4,230 315
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23 Pensions (continued)

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position

Reconciliation of fund liabilities

North Yorkshire Teesside

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value of funded obligations (26,578) (25,883) (106,907) (103,081)

Present value of unfunded obligations - - (203) (211)

Closing fair value of assets 28,594 26,702 88,736 82,138

Fund gain/(deficit) 2,016 819 (18,374) (21,154)

North Yorkshire Teesside

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Opening fund liabilities (25,883) (24,720) (103,292) (98,857)

Current service cost (677) (832) (2,354) (2,456)

Past service cost - - - (72)

Interest cost (664) (638) (2,665) (2,556)

Contributions by participants (145) (185) (555) (574)

Actuarial gains/(losses) on fund liabilities (57) (92) (393) (462)

Net benefits paid 848 584 2,149 1,685

Closing fund liabilities (26,578) (25,883) (107,110) (103,292)

According to FRS102 the pension asset relating to the North 

Yorkshire pension fund should not be recognised unless it 

leads to lower employer contributions or a refund, this will 

become clearer following the actuarial valuation in 2019/20. 

Therefore the asset is not recognised on the Statement of 

Financial Position.
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Reconciliation of fund assets

North Yorkshire Teesside

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Opening fair value of fund assets 26,702 24,792 82,138 78,851

Actuarial (losses)/gains on fund assets 1,620 1,311 4,623 777

Interest income 689 644 2,134 2,056

Contributions by employer 286 354 1,435 1,565

Contributions by participants 145 185 555 574

Net benefits paid (848) (584) (2,149) (1,685)

Closing fund liabilities 28,594 26,702 88,736 82,138

North Yorkshire Teesside

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Actual return 2,309 1,955 6,757 2,833

87



23 Pensions (continued)

24 Capital commitments

Reconciliation of surplus to net cash 
inflow from operating activities

Group
2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Surplus for the year 6,778 10,626

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 10,929 10,481

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 63 88

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other debtors 742           (168)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other creditors 1,424 (1,620)

(Decrease) in deferred capital grants (207) (133)

Grant amortisation (480) (470)

Pensions costs less contributions payable 1,310 963

Adjustments for investing or financing activities:

Gain on disposal of tangible fixed assets (1,605) (1,733)

Interest payable 11,181 9,691 

Interest received (97) (78)

Taxation 16 (35) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 30,054 27,612 

Group Association

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not 
provided in the financial statements 

18,173 7,632 18,173 7,632
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25 Financial commitments

26 Provision for liabilities

Group

Group and association

2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Amounts due:

Within one year 817 986

Within two-five years 2,040       175

Group

Group and association

2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Brought forward 198 277

Additions 52 (79)

Carried forward 250 198

The future minimum lease payments are set out below. 

Leases relates mainly to vehicles and office equipment and 

maintenance equipment.

Within current assets and current liabilities is a holiday pay 

provision which represents holiday accrued as a result of 

services rendered in the current period and which employees 

are entitled to carry forward. The provision is measured as the 

statutory cost payable for the period of absence.
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27 Contingent liabilities
At 31 March 2019 there are two known contingent liabilities relating to 
the defined benefit pension schemes (LGPS) which total £1.735m (2018: 
£nil). AON Hewitt Limited (Teesside Pension Fund and North Yorkshire 
Pension Fund actuary) have provided the following information.

McCloud/Sargeant judgement.

In December 2018 the Court of Appeal ruled against the 

Government in the McCloud/Sargeant judgement which 

found transitional protection arrangements put in place 

when the firefighters’ and judges’ pension schemes were 

formed were age discriminatory. The ruling has implications 

for all public sector schemes which were reformed around 

the same time and could lead to members who were 

discriminated against being compensated.

The transitional protections applied to all active members 

of public service schemes who were within 10 years of their 

Normal Pension age on 1 April 2012. In relation to the LGPS, 

all members were moved into the new 2014 Scheme, but 

members within 10 years of normal retirement were given 

an underpin (or ‘better of both’) promise, so their benefits 

would be at least as valuable in terms of amount and when 

they could be drawn than if they had remained in the 2008 

Scheme.

The government has applied to the Supreme Court for 

permission to appeal this judgement. 

The appeal has been successful but the final 

recommendations of the actuary Aon have not been 

provided at the date of approval of these Accounts.. For 

the purpose of reporting a contingent liability it would be 

prudent to assume the remedy would be the equivalent to 

extending the ‘best of both’ underpin to all members.

The Government Actuary Department (GAD), under the 

instruction of the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board has 

calculated a potential IAS 19 accounting liability of 0.5% - 1% 

of the defined benefit obligation, should the government 

be unsuccessful in its application to appeal or if the Court 

of Appeal’s judgement is upheld by the Supreme Court and 

the agreed remedy for the LGPS is to extend the ‘underpin’ 

protections to all members. This estimate is at Scheme level 

encompassing a range of different assumptions typically 

used by employers to report pension costs. The eventual 

impact on Beyond Housing’s accounts will depend on the 

remedy chosen by government to compensate members 

(which may not be the scenario modelled by GAD); the 

membership profile (age/sex/salary) of Beyond Housing’s 

membership, and the assumptions used to report pension 

costs at time of recognition.

The estimated liability makes a number of simplifications 

including: assuming that all post-2012 joiners would be 

compensated, assuming members would receive ‘better 

of both’ the pre-2014 Scheme benefits and post-2014 

Scheme benefits by the time they reach their pre-2014 

normal pension age; assuming the underpin applies 

only to members on retirement, and not in the case of 

members voluntarily leaving the scheme before retirement, 

and assuming no compensation would be granted to 

employees who paid higher contribution rates whilst in the 

2015 Scheme.

It is unknown what impact this will have on future 

employer contributions to the Teesside Pension Fund/

North Yorkshire Pension Fund. The funds are funded 

arrangements with employers paying contributions based 

on the results of regular local valuations, with the next 

valuation due as at 31 March 2019. Where an additional 

liability arises in the funds in relation to past service this 

will result in increased employer contribution rates in the 

future. Employer contributions towards future service 

may also increase if the ‘better of both’ test is extended 

beyond members within 10 years of normal pension age 

at 1 April 2012. However, legislation requires government to 

monitor and control the underlying costs of the Scheme 

(via the cost management process agreed as part of the 

reform of public service pension schemes). If the cost 

of the LGPS, as monitored by both the LGPS Scheme 

Advisory Board and HM Treasury under separate legislation, 

moves out of line with the envelope cost set when the 

scheme was reformed, this could trigger amendments 

to member benefits, or contributions, to bring the cost to 

the employer/taxpayer back in line. The SAB in England 

and Wales has agreed recommended changes to member 

benefits and contributions to increase by 0.9% of pay as 

required by the SAB cost management process. However, 

the cost management process across all of the public 

service schemes is currently on hold pending the outcome 

of the government’s appeal to the McCloud judgement, so 

the net effect of both the McCloud judgement and the cost 

management process is currently unknown.
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Guaranteed Minimum Pension 
(GMP) Indexation and equalisation

GMP is a portion of pension that was accrued by 

individuals who were contracted out of the State Second 

Pension prior to 6 April 1997. All of the public service 

schemes, including the LGPS were contracted out.

Reforms to the state pension system on 6 April 2016 

removed the facility by which central government paid 

top-up payments to members with GMP who reached 

state pension age (SPA) after that date. Before 6 April 

2016 the LGPS was not required to pay full CPI increases 

on GMPSs, so the top up payments had ensured that both 

state and scheme pensions, when combined, kept pace 

with inflation.

In January 2018 Government extended the interim solution 

to individuals reaching SPA before 5 April 2021, passing 

further cost to the LGPS. This has not yet been accounted 

for. Government policy is to fully index and equalise GMP 

pensions for men and women reaching SPA after 5 April 

2021 but has not yet enacted this legislation.

In March 2016 the government 
introduced an ‘interim solution’ 
which made the LGPS responsible 
for paying the full increases on 
GMPs for individuals reaching 
SPA from 5 April 2016 through to 
6 December 2018. This cost was 
accounted for in 2017.

Separately, on 26 October 2018 the High Court ruled in 

the Lloyds Bank case that equalisation for the effect of 

unequal GMPs is required. The ruling confirmed that 

trustees have a duty “to equalise benefits for men and 

women so as to alter the result which is at present 

produced in relation to GMPs”.

HM Treasury have responded to confirm that public 

sector schemes already have a method to equalise 

guaranteed minimum pension benefits (through the 

interim solutions and commitment to pay full increases 

on GMPs) and they do not plan to change their method as 

a result of that judgement.

Aon, as Fund actuary has estimated that the potential 

IAS 19 accounting liability of full GMP indexation 

(and equalisation) for members reaching SPA from 6 

December 2018 to be in the region of 0.3% of the defined 

benefit obligation. This estimate has been calculated 

for a typical LGPS Fund and is indicative of an additional 

liability for a typical employer and does not reflect 

the individual characteristics of Beyond Housing’s 

membership. Costs could be higher for employers 

with a membership that is older than average (who 

predominantly accrued service between 1978 and 1997 

when GMPs were being accrued).

The Fund is a funded arrangement with employers 

paying contributions based on the results of regular local 

valuations, with the next due as at 31 March 2019. The 

2019 valuation of the Fund is expected to include the 

liability of the second interim solution to April 2021. It is 

currently not known if the 2019 valuation will allow for 

indexation beyond 2021, as this will depend on the timing 

of any Scheme changes announced by HM Treasury and 

the Administering Authority’s policy on reflecting this risk 

within contribution rates. Where an additional liability 

arises in the Fund in relation to past service this will result 

in increased contribution rates in the future.
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28 Financial instruments

Group Association 

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed asset investments 222 235 222 235 

Short term debtors 2,951 3,795 2,953 3,788 

Total financial assets 3,173 4,030 3,175 4,023 

Group Association 

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Short term liabilities 10,419 9,246 10,634 9,438 

Housing loans 200,000 257,000 200,000 257,000 

Total financial liabilities 210,419 266,246 210,634 266,438 

The policy on financial instruments is included in the notes to 

these financial statements.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise:

Short term debtors comprise net rental debtors, trade 

debtors, other debtors and amounts due from group 

undertakings.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise:

Short term liabilities comprise rent and service charges 

received in advance, trade creditors, other creditors, 

accruals and deferred income and amounts due to group 

undertakings. Details relating to the housing loans are 

included in Note 19. 
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29 Related party transactions
The group consists of the following entities:

Beyond Housing Limited  
(the association)

The association is an exempt charity registered with the 

Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) as a registered society and 

with the Homes and Communities Agency as a Registered 

Provider and is the parent organisation of the group.

Coast & Country Developments 
Limited (CCD)
CCD is a non-charitable private limited company, and wholly 

owned subsidiary of the association, established for the 

purpose of carrying out construction activity.

Coast & Country Sales Limited (CCS)
CCS is a non-charitable private limited company, and wholly 

owned subsidiary of the association, established for the 

purpose of transacting outright property sales activity.

The association has taken advantage of the exemption 

available in FRS102 not to disclose transactions between 

group undertakings.

The group has a relationship of joint control over the 

following entities:

Prosper Ltd
The group is a member of Prosper (formally NE 

Procurement Ltd), a consortium set up by north east 

based social landlords for the purpose of creating 

commercial procurement savings for planned 

maintenance and new build works and investing in the 

improvement of member organisations’ communities.

The Spirit Partnership (Spirit)
The group is a member of Spirit, a consortium set up 

by north east based social landlords to build quality 

affordable homes more cost effectively and efficiently.

Group
2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Invoiced to Prosper Ltd in respect of services provided 53 52 

Purchase of property development services from the 
Spirit Partnership

1,192 4,325

Amounts owed by Prosper Ltd at year end - 12

Amounts owed to the Spirit Partnership at year end 69 18

All transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis.
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30 Merger Accounting - Analysis of 
association comprehensive income 2018/19

Notes

Pre-merger Pre-merger Post-merger

Yorkshire 
Coast Homes

Coast & 
Country 
Housing

Beyond 
Housing

Total

2019 2019 2019 2019

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 2 11,119 25,971 36,572 73,662

Cost of sales 2 (510) (25) (67) (602)

Operating expenditure 2 (9,360) (18,585) (28,831) (56,776)

Operating surplus 4 1,249 7,361 7,674 16,284

Gain on disposal of housing properties 5 358 617 630 1,605

Interest receivable 6 3 58 35 96

Interest and financing costs 7 (1,035) (5,038) (5,108) (11,181)

Surplus on ordinary activities before 
taxation 

575 2,998 3,231 6,804

Taxation 10 0 0 (17) (17)

Surplus for the year 575 2,998 3,214 6,787

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of 
pension schemes

22 0 0 4,596 4,596

Total comprehensive income for the year 575 2,998 7,810 11,383
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Yorkshire Coast 
Homes

Coast & Country 
Housing

Total 

2018 2018 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Turnover 2 21,095 53,646 74,741

Cost of sales 2 (84) (443) (527)

Operating expenditure 2 (18,423) (37,189) (55,612)

Operating surplus 4 2,588 16,014 18,602

Gain on disposal of housing properties 5 905 828 1,733

Interest receivable 6 12 66 78

Interest and financing costs 7 (2,028) (7,663) (9,691)

Surplus on ordinary activities before 
taxation 

1,477 9,245 10,722

Taxation 10 0 15 15

Surplus for the year 1,477 9,260 10,737

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of 
pension schemes

22 472 315 787

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,949 9,575 11,524

Analysis of association 
comprehensive income 2017/18

As part of merger accounting a number of material 

adjustments have been required to align the accounting 

policies of the two legacy organisations. 

The most significant accounting policy change required 

to align Coast & Country Housing (CCH) and Yorkshire 

Coast Homes (YCH) was the fixed asset accounting 

policy. CCH carried most fixed assets at valuation 

whereas YCH carried fixed assets at cost. The board 

decided Beyond Housing (BH) would adopt cost as basis 

for fixed assets. In reverting CCH to a cost basis this has 

reduced the fixed asset carrying value by £49.8m and 

removed the related revaluation reserve as at 31 March 

2017. Unrealised revaluation surpluses/deficits in the 

SOCI totalling £18.5m are also lost.

Subsequent to the above, grant treatment must 

change under FRS102 from the performance 

methodology where grant is written to the SOCI once 

grant conditions are met, to the accruals methodology 

where the grant is retained as deferred grant on the 

SOFP and amortised over the lifetime of the structure. 

A grant adjustment of £29.4m has been required as at 

31 March 2017 debiting the income and expenditure 

reserve and crediting deferred grant on the SOFP. 

This has increased amortised grant by £1.4m at 31 

March 2017. A further required policy change is the 

capitalisation of interest on borrowings used to fund 

development adopted by BH. As CCH did not capitalise 

interest on borrowing used to fund development an 

adjustment has been necessary and equated to £4.5m. 

This has led to smaller adjustments to depreciation 

and cost of sales.
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The aggregate carrying value of Net Assets, at 

31 March 2017 are outlined in the table below:

Yorkshire 
Coast Homes

Coast & 
Country 
Housing

Adjustments 
on merger

Total

2016/17 2016/17

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Housing properties                 74,886                301,203 (38,985) 337,104

Other tangible fixed assets 2,498 475 - 2,973 

Intangible fixed assets 258 - - 258

Investments - 279 - 279

                77,642                301,957 (38,985) 340,614

Current assets

Properties held for sale 369                     4,465 -                4,834 

Other tangible fixed assets 1,944                     4,699 -                6,643 

Intangible fixed assets                   6,792 23,576 - 30,368 

                  9,105                  32,740 -                41,845 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year (2,883) (8,780) -   (11,663)

Net current assets 6,222 23,960 -   30,182

Total assets less current liabilities 83,864 325,917 (38,985) 370,796

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year (51,665) (194,898) (28,210) (274,773)

Pension provision 72 (20,006) (72) (20,006)

Net assets 32,271 111,013 (67,267) 76,017

Reserves

Income and expenditure reserve 32,271 59,964 (17,499) 74,736

Revaluation reserve - 49,768 (49,768) 0

Restricted reserve - 1,281 0 1,281

Total reserves 32,271 111,013 (67,267) 76,017
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The aggregate carrying value of Net Assets at merger

Yorkshire 
Coast Homes

Coast & 
Country 
Housing

 Net Assets      01 October 2018 £35.4m £144.8m
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